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CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT
CHAIRMAN’S 
STATEMENT

In 2013, the global economic and political environment 

remained complicated, diff icult and challenging in 

various areas. However, the Group, with full confidence 

in its future development and strategies, including our 

continuous transformation and upgrading, was going 

at full speed and has achieved business growth during 

the year. The Chinese market remains to be the Group’s 

most powerful growth engine.

•	 Revenue for the year increased from HK$2.61 
billion to HK$2.81 billion, representing an increase 
of 7%

•	 Net profit for the year increased from HK$170 
million to HK$194 million

•	 Basic earnings per share were HK$0.65

•	 Net asset value per share was HK$8.9

•	 Proposed final dividend per share is HK$0.15 and 

the total dividend for the year will be HK$0.20 per 

share

As the world’s number one silk enterprise, High Fashion 

will continue to focus its mission to develop China’s silk 

industry. We have developed a unique High Fashion Silk 

World, highlighting our cutting-edge silk technologies 

and exquisite silk products. It further expands into the 

vast China’s silk market by promoting the development 

of the silk cultural and tourism industries, the silk-

themed shopping malls, as well as the related real estate 

development. We firmly believe that the mission of High 

Fashion as the world’s number one silk enterprise will 

bring long-term and substantial contributions to the 

Group.

During the period, we have established a professional 

and outstanding team of new media, which went into 

operation in early 2014. It will fully integrate with the 

powerful strength of High Fashion as the world’s number 

one silk enterprise for online sales of our fashionable 

silk products and gifts. Meanwhile, it will support the 

Group in promoting the development of the silk cultural 

and tourism industries, and bringing online transactions 

to facilitate the sales of our major fashion brands of the 

Group, including theme, cslr and August Silk.
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I would like to take this opportunity to express my 

gratitude to the shareholders, banks, customers, 

suppliers and our fellow Directors for their support 

and precious opinions. I would also like to thank the 

management team and all staff members of the Group 

for their dedication and contributions.

LAM FOO WAH

Chairman & Managing Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2014
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FINANCIAL 
HIGHLIGHTS

Turnover
(HK$ Million)

Net Asset Value Per Share
(HK$) 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

5.30
6.11

7.12
7.71

8.90

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

2,272

2,724 2,784
2,612

2,807
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MANAGEMENT 
DISCUSSION 

AND ANALYSIS

Results
Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2013 was HK$2.81 billion. Net profit attributable to shareholders for the 

year ended 31 December 2013 was HK$194 million, compared with a profit of HK$170 million of 2012, up 14%. 

Basic earnings per share were HK$0.65, up 14%. Net asset value per share increased from HK$7.7 to HK$8.9.
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Review of Operations
The segment information is as follows:

Revenue Contribution

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

By principal activity:

  Manufacturing and trading 2,286,551 1,997,276 327,073 281,479

  Brand business 520,110 614,596 (26,669) (30,183)

2,806,661 2,611,872 300,404 251,296

By geographical segments:

  USA 1,278,555 1,202,681 65,375 73,900

  Europe 510,480 525,397 29,683 30,718

  Greater China 781,667 692,931 190,628 131,976

  Others 235,959 190,863 14,718 14,702

2,806,661 2,611,872 300,404 251,296

In spite of the immense inflationary pressure with rising 

raw material costs and other operational overheads, 

the Group continued to deliver solid results in our 

manufacturing export business, through implementation 

of a series of effective measures to enhance our 

efficiency and competitiveness over the years to capture 

the higher end market.

The profit for the 2013 included an exceptional gain on 

fair value change of derivative financial instruments of 

HK$18.5 million (2012: gain of HK$38.8 million), which 

is the financial instruments for hedging RMB for the 

year from 2013 to 2015 and an increase in fair value 

of investment properties (before tax) of HK$158 million 

(2012: HK$106 million).
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Liquidity and 

Financial Resources
The Group’s tota l  outstanding bank borrowings 

were increased to HK$2,536 mill ion at the end of 

reporting period compared to HK$1,846 million as at 

31 December 2012. The increase in bank borrowing 

was mainly due to our hedging arrangement during 

the year. Our gearing ratio of non-current liabilities 

to shareholders’ funds was only 12% at the end of 

reporting period. Current ratio has been maintained at a 

healthy level of 1.27.

The Group’s total cash and bank balances were 

HK$2,699 mil l ion at the end of report ing period 

compared to HK$2,097 million as at 31 December 2012. 

Based on the net cash position and the ample banking 

facilities available, the Group had a very strong working 

capital and liquidity to meet the operating needs and 

future growth.

The Group’s trade receivables were mainly denominated 

in US dollar. Bank borrowings were denominated in 

US dollar and Hong Kong dollar. Since the Hong Kong 

dollar is pegged to the US dollar, the Group considers 

that its foreign exchange risk is minimal. The Group has 

taken conservative approach to handle foreign currency 

risk with adequate hedging reserve. The Group had no 

borrowings at fixed interest rates during the year.

The Group has no material contingent liabilities. Barring 

the pledge of trade receivables and bills receivables 

of certain subsidiaries of HK$55 million, there were no 

charges on the Group’s assets.

Tax Audit
The Inland Revenue Department (IRD) initiated a tax 

audit on certain group companies in February 2006 

for the years of assessment from 1999/2000 onwards. 

The management is of the opinion that, in all the years, 

adequate Hong Kong tax provisions were made on the 

Hong Kong sourced income. Since the tax audit is still 

at a fact-finding stage, the outcome of the tax audit 

cannot be readily ascertained. After consulting with 

professional advisers, the management is of the opinion 

that the existing provisions are adequate.

Human Resources
The total number of employees of the Group including 

jointly controlled entities as at the end of the reporting 

period was about 8,600. Other than the competitive 

remuneration package offered to the employees, share 

options may also be granted to selected employees 

based on the Group’s performance. No share options 

were granted to employees during the year.

Capital Expenditure
The Group has purchased the plant and equipment 

and the leasehold improvement and construction in 

progress of around HK$33 million in order to upgrade 

its manufacturing capabilities and acquired a land of 

HK$108 million in the PRC for development during the 

year. Except for the above, there was no material capital 

expenditure during the year.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LAM Foo Wah, aged 65, is the founder of the Group. Mr. Lam is the Chairman and the Managing Director 

and the chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lam is the visionary leader and is responsible 

for the overall strategic planning with goals setting for the Group to pursue aggressively. He has over 30 years 

of experience in manufacturing of apparel industry and marketing of brand and retail management. Mr. Lam is a 

substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance. He 

is the father of Mr. Lam Gee Yu, Will and Mr. Lam Din Yu, Well.

Ms. SO Siu Hang, Patricia, aged 55, joined the Group in 1990. Ms. So is an Executive Director of the Company 

and is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, implementation and global business development. She has an 

in-depth knowledge of the fashion apparel industry and has substantial experience in corporate management. She 

holds a bachelor degree in commerce and finance from the University of Toronto and a master degree in business 

administration from York University in Canada. Prior to joining the Group, she worked for Standard Chartered Bank 

for 4 years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. CHAN Wah Tip, Michael, aged 61, joined the Group as Company Secretary in 1992. Mr. Chan is a Non-

executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the 

Company. Mr. Chan was an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company prior to his re-designation as a 

Non-executive Director of the Company in October 2004. He has been practising as a solicitor in Hong Kong for 

over 30 years. Mr. Chan is a consultant of Wilkinson & Grist which is the legal adviser of the Company. He was 

a non-executive director of Shougang Concord Technology Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive 

director of L.K. Technology Holdings Limited.

Professor YEUNG Kwok Wing, aged 66, joined the Group in 2000. Professor Yeung is a Non-executive Director, 

a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He is 

currently the executive director of Clothing Industry Training Authority (“CITA”) in Hong Kong. He holds a PhD from 

the Queen’s University of Belfast, Northern Ireland. Professor Yeung specializes in textile product development, 

quality assurance and management and serves as various honorary fellows and members of international 

associations of textile, dyers and colorists as well. He has a long and distinguished academic career and was 

associated with The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (“PolyU”) for more than 30 years before joining CITA in 

June 2006. His administrative ability is also highly appreciated in PolyU when he was posted as its vice president 

overseeing academic development from 2002 to 2005. He was an independent non-executive director of SRE Group 

Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
 

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. WOO King Wai, aged 69, joined the Group in 1992. Mr. Woo is an Independent Non-executive Director, a 

member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He holds a 

bachelor degree in architecture (Honours) from the University of the California, Berkeley. He is a member of the Hong 

Kong Institute of Architects and the Royal Australian Institute of Architects. He has been appointed as a member of 

the University of California Berkeley Foundation Board of Trustees. He served as an executive member of the Hainan 

Political Consultative Conference, the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. WONG Shiu Hoi, Peter, aged 73, joined the Group in 2004. Mr. Wong is an Independent Non-executive 

Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination 

Committee of the Company. He holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of East Asia, 

Macau (currently known as the “University of Macau”). Mr. Wong possesses over 40 years of experience in the 

financial services industry. He is an independent non-executive director of Tianjin Development Holdings Limited, an 

overseas business advisor of Haitong Securities Company Limited, a consultant of Halcyon Holdings Limited and 

a director of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. He was an executive director, deputy chairman and 

chief executive of Haitong International Securities Group Limited and the chairman of The Hong Kong Institute of 

Directors.

Mr. LEUNG Hok Lim, FCPA (Aust.), CPA (Macau), FCPA (Practising), aged 78, joined the Group in 2004. Mr. 

Leung is an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the 

Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Leung is the founding and senior partner 

of PKF, Accountants and Business Advisers. Mr. Leung is a non-executive director of Beijing-Hongkong Exchange 

of Personnel Centre Limited, and the independent non-executive director of a number of listed companies namely 

Fujian Holdings Limited, Phoenix Satellite Television Holdings Limited, S E A Holdings Limited, Yangtzekiang Garment 

Limited and YGM Trading Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. LAM Gee Yu, Will

(Appointed as an Executive Director of the Company with effect from 1 April 2014)

aged 31, joined the Group in 2010. He is the CEO of Apparel Brand Center and is a director of High Fashion 

Garments Company Limited, High Fashion (China) Co., Ltd., High Fashion Silk (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd. and High Fashion 

New Media Corporation Limited. He is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group. He holds a Bachelor 

of Science Degree from Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master of Finance Degree from Princeton University. 

He serves as a vice president of Shenzhen Garment Industry Association, an associate member of The Hong Kong 

Institute of Directors and a member of retail and tourism committee of Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce. 

Prior to joining the Group, he worked for an international bank in Asia and an international investment bank in United 

States. He is a son of Mr. Lam Foo Wah and a brother of Mr. Lam Din Yu, Well.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
 

Mr. LAM Din Yu, Well

(Appointed as an Executive Director of the Company with effect from 1 April 2014)

aged 29, joined the Group in 2006. He is the Vice Chairman and General Manager of High Fashion (China) Co., 

Ltd. He is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Group. He holds a bachelor degree of Business 

Administration from Boston University. He is a son of Mr. Lam Foo Wah and a brother of Mr. Lam Gee Yu, Will.

Ms. LEUNG Suk Yin, Hilda, aged 57, has been with the Group since its inception. She is a director of High Fashion 

Garments Company Limited and the Vice Chairman of High Fashion (China) Co., Ltd. Ms. Leung holds a diploma in 

business management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and the Hong Kong Management Association. 

She has over 30 years of experience in the merchandising, marketing and production of garments.

Mr. LIN Ping, aged 53, joined the Group in 1993. He is the Chairman and the CEO of High Fashion Silk (Zhejiang) 

Co., Ltd. and responsible for the operation and administration. He is also the Chairman of High Fashion (China) 

Co., Ltd. He serves as Vice President of Chinese Textile Enterprisers Association, Vice President of China Silk 

Association, Vice President of China Fashion Color Association, Vice President of Silk Branch of China Textile 

Chamber of Commerce, Vice President of China Silk Quilt Association, an executive member of China Textile 

Photography Association, President of Zhejiang Industry Tourism Association, Vice President of Zhejiang Textile 

Association, Vice President of Zhejiang Province Silk Association, Vice President of Shaoxing Textile Association, 

Vice President of Shaoxing Tourism Association, Representative of 6th and 7th NPC of Shaoxing, Part-time Professor 

of Zhejiang Sci-Tech University and Honorary Professor of Hangzhou Vocational Technical College, President of 

High Fashion Womenswear College. He attains EMBA education and is the senior economist in China. He has over 

30 years’ experience in textile industry and extensive experience in product design and development, silk weaving 

production and management.

Ms. CHOW Siu Ping, Helen, aged 52, joined the Group in 2000. She is the CEO of Knitwear Centre of High 

Fashion (China) Co., Ltd. and has extensive experience in the merchandising, product development and production 

of knitting garments. Before joining the Group, she worked as leading roles for many sizable manufacturing groups 

and apparel brands.

Mr. Donald Michael HORNING, aged 67, joined the Group in 1999 and as vice president of High Fashion 

Garments, Inc. In 2005, he was promoted to President and CEO of August Silk Inc. and High Fashion Garments, 

Inc. Throughout his career, he held executive positions in apparel companies including Jones Apparel Group, J.H. 

Collectibles and David Crystal/Izod. He graduated from Syracuse University and attended the MBA program at The 

University of Chicago.

Mr. CHAN Chun Man, Benedict, aged 59, joined the Group in 1992. He is the Chief Operating Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer of August Silk Inc. and High Fashion International (USA) Inc. He is responsible for overseeing the 

Group’s affairs in USA. He graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in economics and 

pure mathematics. He is a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.



Annual Report 2013 · High Fashion International Limited 15

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
 

Mrs. LEONG MA Li, aged 46, joined the Group in 2013. She is the Chairman of New Media and Apparel Brand 

Center and responsible for the e-commerce and garment retail operation and administration. She is also the 

Chairman of Eastern Home Shopping & Leisure Co., Ltd., which is the Taiwan’s leading internet shopping platform 

and has extensive experience in business management and marketing operation.

Mr. FENG Jun, aged 53, joined the Group in 2013. He is the Chairman of High Fashion (HK) Properties Limited. 

He was the general manager of China Qingan Poly Group Corporation. He has extensive experience for large-scale 

project in culture, tourism, business and property development and management.

Mr. Daniele FURLAN, aged 57, joined the Group in 2004 as a consultant. He is primarily responsible for the sales 

and marketing of fabrics and garments to European market and provides technical, organizational and industrial 

knowhow to the Group’s factories. He is responsible for the product development of the Group and is the CEO of 

Advance Textile Centre of High Fashion (China) Co., Ltd., the supplier of finished fabrics and circular knit. He holds 

a diploma in business administration and a master in psychology from Padova University. Previously, he worked 

as a manager in the Benetton Group for more than 25 years and was responsible for various production units and 

sourcing divisions. In particular, he was responsible for the worldwide production licensing, fabric mill, garment, 

accessories and shoes outsourcing department of the Benetton Group. He was the managing director of Lanificio di 

Follina and also, for seven years, the managing director of Benetton (Far East) Limited in Hong Kong.

Ms. CHAN Wai Wei, Cynthia, aged 41, joined the Group in 2000. Ms. Chan is the Company Secretary of the 

Company and has over 10 years’ experience in accounting and auditing. Prior to joining the Group, she worked for 

an international accounting firm. She is a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of 

Chartered Secretaries & Administrators.

Mr. PANG Kin Wah, Julian, aged 41, joined the Group in 2004. He is the Chief Financial Officer of High Fashion 

(China) Co., Ltd. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has Certified of 

Internal Auditors (CIA) professional designation. He holds a bachelor degree of Business Administration (Honours) in 

Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a master degree in Business Administration from the 

Chinese University of Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, he worked for a financial institution and an international 

accounting firm.

Ms. HU Ze Lin, aged 63, joined the Group in 1993. She is a director and the Deputy General Manager of High 

Fashion Silk (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd. and responsible for the production of that company. She attained matriculated 

education and is an economist in China. She has over 30 years of experience in textile industry and extensive 

experience in quality control in silk weaving production management.

Ms. Ellen DAWSON-BRUCKENTHAL, aged 57, is the Executive Vice President and Chief Merchandise Officer 

of August Silk Inc. She began her career in the Executive Training Program at Bloomingdales, a division of 

Federated Dept. Stores in 1978 where she consequently held the positions of Store Manager, Senior Buyer and 

Divisional Merchandise Manager. She is a graduate of Berkeley College and holds a degree in Fashion Marketing & 

Management. She joined August Silk Inc. in 1994.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
 

Mr. RUAN Gen Yao, aged 53, joined the Group in 2001. He is the General Manager of Hangzhou Dalifu Silk 

Finishing Co., Ltd. and responsible for the operation of that company. He is a politician engineer in China and 

Labour Model of Hangzhou and the representation of the People’s Congress of Tonglu, China. He has over 20 years’ 

experience in silk finishing and dyeing industry and extensive experience in business management.

Mr. ZHANG Shan Pu, aged 58, joined the Group in 1999. He is the General Manager of Suzhou High Fashion 

Garments Co., Ltd. and responsible for the operation of that company. He graduated from an institution. Mr. 

Zhang has over 20 years of experience in silk knitting garments management and extensive experience in business 

management.

Mr. Nicholas E. G. WRIGHT, aged 59, joined the Group in 1993. He is the Managing Director of High Fashion (U.K.) 

Limited. He has over 25 years of experience in the clothing industry.
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Report of the Directors
 

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 

31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the principal 

subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the 

nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2013 and the statement of financial position of the Group at that 

date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 126.

An interim dividend of 5 HK cents per ordinary share was paid on 3 October 2013. The Board has resolved to 

recommend a final dividend of 15 HK cents per share in respect of the year to shareholders on the register of 

members on 13 June 2014, making a total dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013 of 20 HK cents (2012: 

20 HK cents) per share. The final dividend will be paid in cash, with the shareholders being given an option to elect  

to receive in respect of part or all of such dividend by way of scrip. A circular giving full details of the scrip dividend 

proposal and a form of election will be issued by the Company in due course.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as 

extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 127. 

This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment properties of the Group during the year 

are set out in notes 15 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year, is set out in note 35 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
A summary of the share option scheme during the year is set out in note 36 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
 

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would 

oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to its existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
During the year, the Company had not redeemed, and neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had 

purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At 31 December 2013, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the 

provisions of The Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), amounted to HK$200,178,000, of which 

HK$44,582,000 has been proposed as final dividend for the year. In addition, the Company’s share premium 

account, in the amount of HK$262,871,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made charitable donations totalling HK$290,000 (2012: HK$1,429,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 30% of the total sales for the 

year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 10.1%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest 

suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total purchases for the year.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the 

knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in these major 

customers or suppliers.
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Report of the Directors
 

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Lam Foo Wah

Ms. So Siu Hang, Patricia

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael

Professor Yeung Kwok Wing

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Woo King Wai

Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter

Mr. Leung Hok Lim

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs. Leung Hok Lim, Lam Foo Wah and Wong Shiu 

Hoi, Peter will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general 

meeting.

At the meeting held on 26 March 2014, the Board approved the appointment of Messrs. Lam Gee Yu, Will and Lam 

Din Yu, Well as executive directors of the Company with effect from 1 April 2014. In accordance with bye-law 86(2) 

of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs. Lam Gee Yu, Will and Lam Din Yu, Well will hold office until the forthcoming 

annual general meeting and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION
Pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock 

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) each independent non-executive director re-affirmed 

his independent status with the Company as at 31 December 2013, and the Company considered that they are 

independent.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Particulars as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in note 9 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 

12 to 16 of the annual report.
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Report of the Directors
 

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service 

contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
Other than as disclosed under the section “Related Party Transactions” in note 46 to the consolidated financial 

statements, no director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the 

business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2013 are 

disclosed in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of the directors, chief executives of the Company and 

their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations 

(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which have been notified to the 

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the provision of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 

interests and short positions which any such director or chief executive was taken or deemed to have under such 

provisions of the SFO) and have been recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 

of the SFO, or which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the model code for 

securities transactions by directors of listed issuers (“Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(i)	 Long Positions in the Company’s Shares

Name of Directors Notes Capacity
Nature of 
interests

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of 
the Company’s 

issued share 
capital

(Note 3)

Lam Foo Wah
1, 2

Beneficial owner Personal 1,706,000 0.58%
Other interest Other 149,029,986 50.14%

So Siu Hang, Patricia Beneficial owner Personal 2,824,309 0.95%
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Report of the Directors
 

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Cont’d)

(ii)	 Long Position in Shares of Associated Corporation

Name 
of Director Note

Name of 
associated 
corporation

Relationship 
with the 
Company Capacity

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of 
the associated 

corporation’s 
issued share 

capital

Lam Foo Wah 4 High Fashion 
  Knitters Limited

Subsidiary Interest of 
  controlled 
  corporations

5,339,431 35.60%

Notes:

1.	 Mr. Lam Foo Wah is deemed to have interests in 112,912,419 ordinary shares which are beneficially owned by Hinton 
Company Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is held under a related discretionary trust. Mr. Lam is regarded 
as a founder of the trust.

2.	 Mr. Lam Foo Wah is deemed to have interests in 36,117,567 ordinary shares which are beneficially owned by High Fashion 
Charitable Foundation Limited, the entire issued share capital of which is held under a related discretionary trust. Mr. Lam 
is regarded as a founder of the trust.

3.	 The issued share capital of the Company is 297,213,550 shares as at 31 December 2013.

4.	 These shares are held through three companies beneficially owned by Mr. Lam Foo Wah.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of the directors, chief executives of the Company nor their 

associates had or was deemed to have any interest or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 

of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which has been 

recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which has been notified 

to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code of the Listing Rules.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2013 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any 

arrangements to enable the directors of the Company or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 

to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 

corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 December 2013, the following substantial shareholders, other than directors and chief executives of the 

Company, had the interests and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which have 

been disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, have been 

recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of SFO:

Long Positions in the Company’s Ordinary Shares:

Name of Shareholders Notes Capacity

Number of 
ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of 
the Company’s 

issued share 
capital

(Note 3)

Hinton Company Limited 1 Beneficial owner 112,912,419 37.99%
High Fashion Charitable Foundation Limited 1 Beneficial owner 36,117,567 12.15%
Fundpartner Solutions (Europe) SA 2 Investment manager 14,904,000 5.01%

Notes:

1.	 Such interests have been disclosed as interests of Mr. Lam Foo Wah in the “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and 

Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above.

2.	 These interests are held on behalf of Worldwide Fund, Fcp Sif, Global Equities Sub Fund.

3.	 The issued share capital of the Company is 297,213,550 shares as at 31 December 2013.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, no person, other than the directors or chief executives of 

the Company, whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short 

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had registered a long or short position in the shares, 

underlying shares and debentures of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 336 of the 

SFO.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors, as at 

the date of this report, there is a sufficiency of public float of the Company’s securities as required under the Listing 

Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company has applied the principles of, and complied with the applicable code provisions of the Corporate 

Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules 

throughout the accounting year ended 31 December 2013, except for the deviations as described below:

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate 

and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lam Foo Wah is the Chairman and Managing Director of 

the Company. The Board considers that the function of the Chairman and the Managing Director in the Company’s 

strategic planning and development process are overlapping and it may not be for the benefit of the Company to 

have separate individuals occupying these two offices in the condition of the Group and its stage of development.

Under the code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-executive 

directors, should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders. Due 

to other engagements away from Hong Kong, Mr. Leung Hok Lim (Independent non-executive Director) and Mr. 

Chan Wah Tip, Michael (Non-executive Director) were not able to attend the annual general meeting held on 28 May 

2013.

Details of the Company’s corporate governance report are set out on pages 24 to 36.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 were audited by Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 

forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

LAM FOO WAH

Chairman & Managing Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2014
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The Board of Directors (“Board”) and the management of the Company are committed to establishment and 

maintaining of good corporate governance practices and procedures. The Company believes that good corporate 

governance provides a framework that is essential for effective management and enhancing shareholders’ value. 

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls, and 

accountability and transparency to all shareholders.

The Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate 

Governance Report (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange 

throughout the accounting year ended 31 December 2013, except for the deviations as described below:

1.	 Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should 

be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lam Foo Wah is the Chairman and 

Managing Director of the Company. The Board considers that the function of the Chairman and the Managing 

Director in the Company’s strategic planning and development process are overlapping and it may not be for 

the benefit of the Company to have separate individuals occupying these two offices in the condition of the 

Group and its stage of development.

2.	 Under the code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-

executive directors, should attend general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views 

of shareholders. Due to other engagements away from Hong Kong, Mr. Leung Hok Lim (Independent non-

executive Director) and Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael (Non-executive Director) were not able to attend the 

annual general meeting held on 28 May 2013.

THE BOARD
The Board of the Company is collectively responsible for the oversight of the management of the business and 

affairs of the Group with the objective of enhancing shareholders value.

At the year end, the Board of the Company consisted of a total of seven directors, comprising two Executive 

Directors, two Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors. The names of directors and 

their positions are as follows:

Name of Director Position

Executive directors:

Mr. Lam Foo Wah Chairman and Managing Director

Ms. So Siu Hang, Patricia Executive Director

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael Non-Executive Director

Professor Yeung Kwok Wing Non-Executive Director

Mr. Woo King Wai Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Leung Hok Lim Independent Non-Executive Director
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THE BOARD (Cont’d)
The Directors’ biographical information is set out on pages 12 to 13.

An updated list of directors of the Company and their respective roles and functions have been maintained on the 

website of the Company and the designated website of the Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, listed issuers should appoint independent non-executive directors 

(INEDs) representing at least one-third of the board. The number of INEDs represents more than one-third of 

the Board. One of the three INEDs has appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial 

management expertise.

Review of the Board composition is made regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience 

appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’ liabilities has been in force to protect the Directors and 

officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of the Group.

Board Meeting
During the year, four regular Board meeting were held for facilitating the function of the Board. In any event all 

Directors were available for consultation by management from time to time during the year.

In order to ensure that the Board is able to fulfill its responsibilities, it has established and delegated specific 

responsibilities to the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. The details of the 

committees are stipulated on pages 28 to 31 of this report.

The Company provides at least 14 days’ notices of every Board meeting to all Directors. Board papers are circulated 

not less than three days before the Board meetings to enable the Directors to make informed decisions on matters 

to be raised at the Board meetings.

During the financial year, the Group Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary attended the regular 

Board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance, accounting and financial matters when 

necessary. Directors had full access to information on the Group and were able to seek independent professional 

advice whenever deemed necessary by the Directors. The Company Secretary prepared minutes and kept records 

of matters discussed and decisions resolved at all Board meetings.
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THE BOARD (Cont’d)

Directors’ attendance records
During the year ended 31 December 2013, details of Directors’ attendance at the Board and respective Board 

Committees Meetings and the annual general meeting held on 28 May 2013 (“2013 AGM”) are as follows:

Meetings Attended/held

Name of Directors Board

Audit 

Committee

Remuneration 

Committee

Nomination 

Committee 2013 AGM

Executive directors:

Mr. Lam Foo Wah 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

Ms. So Siu Hang, Patricia 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael 3/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 0/1

Professor Yeung Kwok Wing 2/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Woo King Wai 2/4 2/3 1/1 1/1 1/1

Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1

Mr. Leung Hok Lim 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 0/1

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The Company has established the Nomination Committee with specific terms of reference in March 2012 and formal 

nomination procedures were adopted. Any nomination of directors will be reviewed and discussed by the Nomination 

Committee for his suitability on the basis of qualifications, experience and background. Suitable candidates will be 

recommended by the Nomination Committee to the Board for consideration of the appointment.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws, newly appointed director(s) is/are required to retire and can offer 

themselves for re-election at the first general meeting following their appointment.

At the meeting held on 26 March 2014, the Board approved the appointment of Messrs. Lam Gee Yu, Will and Lam 

Din Yu, Well as executive directors of the Company with effect from 1 April 2014. In accordance with bye-law 86(2) 

of the Company’s Bye-laws, Messrs. Lam Gee Yu, Will and Lam Din Yu, Well will hold office until the forthcoming 

annual general meeting to be held on 6 June 2014 (“2014 AGM”) and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company’s Bye-Laws provide that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 

three years and that one-third (or the number nearest to one-third) of the Directors shall retire from office every year 

at annual general meeting of the Company. Retiring Directors are eligible for re-election.
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THE BOARD (Cont’d)

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of Directors (Cont’d)
In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Leung Hok Lim, Mr. Lam Foo Wah and Mr. Wong 

Shiu Hoi, Peter will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming 2014 

AGM.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service 

contract with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of 

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Pursuant to the code provision A.4.3 of CG Code, any further appointment of INED serving more than nine years 

should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders. Mr. Leung Hok Lim and Mr. Wong 

Shiu Hoi, Peter are INED serving the Company since 2004. Mr. Leung and Mr. Wong have met the independence 

guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and have made an annual confirmation of independence to the 

Company. The Board is satisfied that Mr. Leung and Mr. Wong who served the Company for more than nine years, 

remains independent, and considers that they would be able to continue to discharge their duties as an INED to 

the Company. Mr. Leung and Mr. Wong should be re-elected and separate resolution will be proposed for their re-

election at the 2014 AGM.

During the financial year, each of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 

of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all INEDs meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 

of the Listing Rules and are independent.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The positions of the Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) and the Managing Director are held and performed by 

Mr. Lam Foo Wah, the same individual. The Board considers that the function of the Chairman and the Managing 

Director in the Company’s strategic planning and development process are overlapping and it may not be for the 

benefit of the Company to have separate individuals occupying these two offices given the conditions of the Group 

and its stage of development.

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for the approval and monitoring of the Group’s overall strategies and 

policies; evaluating the performance of the Group; and oversight of management. One of the important roles of the 

Chairman is to provide leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Group. The 

Chairman ensures that the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate 

issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. All Directors have been consulted about any matters 

proposed for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated the responsibility for drawing up the agenda for 

each Board meeting to the Company Secretary.

Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group under the leadership of the Chairman who 

is also the Managing Director. The Managing Director, working with the other executive directors and the executive 

management team of each business division, is responsible for managing the businesses of the Group, including 

implementation of strategies adopted by the Board and assuming full accountability to the Board for the operations 

of the Group. All Directors have made full and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and it always acts in the 

best interests of the Group.

With the support from Executive Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all 

Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and receives adequate and reliable information 

in a timely manner. Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman hold meetings with the Non-executive 

Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors) without the presence of Executive Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board delegates its powers and authorities from time to time to committees in order to ensure the operational 

efficiency and specific issues are being handled by relevant expertise. Three board committees have been 

established and each of them has its specific duties and authorities setting out in its own terms of reference. 

Written terms of reference, which are in line with the CG Code, of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration 

Committee and the Nomination Committee are available on the website of the Company and the designated website 

of the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee
During the year, the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Leung Hok Lim (Chairman), Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael, 

Professor Yeung Kwok Wing, Mr. Woo King Wai and Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee (Cont’d)
The Company has complied with the requirement of the Listing Rules in establishing an audit committee comprising 

at least three members who must be Non-executive Directors only, and the majority thereof must be Independent 

Non-executive Directors, at least one of whom must have appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or 

related financial management expertise. The Audit Committee adopted the terms of reference with reference to “A 

Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

and in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are set out below:

(i)	 to recommend to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and any 

questions of resignation or dismissal of the auditor;

(ii)	 to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit 

process in accordance with applicable standard;

(iii)	 to develop and implement policy on the engagement of external auditor to supply non-audit services;

(iv)	 to monitor integrity of financial statements of the Company and the Company’s annual and interim reports 

and accounts, and to review significant financial reporting judgments contained in such reports;

(v)	 to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management systems; and

(vi)	 to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices.

No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the Company during the one 

year after he/she ceases to be a partner of the auditing firm.

During the year, the Audit Committee held three regular meetings to review and provide supervision of the Group’s 

financial reporting system and internal control procedures, review of the Group’s financial information and review of 

the relationship with the Auditor of the Company. The members’ attendance to the Committee meeting is listed out 

on page 26.

The Board adopted the Whistle-Blowing Policy in August 2013 setting out the approach for employees and those 

who deal with the issuer (e.g. Customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence, with audit committee 

about possible improprieties in any matter related to the issuer. The Company shall present the quarterly whistle-

blowing report to the Audit Committee for review.

In March 2014, the Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the 

year ended 31 December 2013. Minutes drafted by the secretary of Audit Committee are circulated to members of 

the Audit Committee within a reasonable time after each meeting.
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Remuneration Committee
During the year, the Remuneration Committee comprises Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter (Chairman), Mr. Chan Wah Tip, 

Michael, Professor Yeung Kwok Wing, Mr. Woo King Wai and Mr. Leung Hok Lim.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s 

policy and structure for remuneration of directors and senior management and reviewing the specific remuneration 

packages of all Executive Directors and senior management by reference to corporate goals and objectives 

resolved by the Board from time to time. The Remuneration Committee make recommendation to the Board on 

the remuneration packages of, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, of individual 

executive directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee consulted the Chairman about their proposals relating to remuneration package 

and other human resources issues of the directors and senior management of the Company. The emoluments 

of directors and senior management are based on the skill, knowledge and involvement in the Company’s affairs 

of each director and senior management and are determined by reference to the Company’s performance and 

profitability, as well as remuneration benchmark in the industry and the prevailing market conditions.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and made 

recommendation to the Board for the policy and structure for remuneration of directors and senior management. A 

regular meeting of Remuneration Committee has been convened in March 2013 and members’ attendance to the 

Remuneration Committee meeting is listed out on page 26.

Particulars of directors’ emoluments and employee’s emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2013 are set out 

in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee
During the year, the Nomination Committee comprises Mr. Lam Foo Wah (Chairman), Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael, 

Professor Yeung Kwok Wing, Mr. Woo King Wai, Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter and Mr. Leung Hok Lim.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the 

skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or 

re-appointment of directors. Formal nomination procedures were adopted by the Board for governing the nomination 

and re-election of directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure of the Board, the independence of independent 

non-executive directors and made recommendations in relation to the re-appointment of the retiring directors. It 

also made recommendation to the Board for adoption of the Board Diversity Policy. A regular meeting of Nomination 

Committee has been convened in March 2013 and members’ attendance to the Nomination Committee meeting is 

listed out on page 26.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Nomination Committee (Cont’d)
The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy in March 2013 setting out the approach to diversity on the Board and 

complying with a new Code Provision on board diversity effective from September 2013. The Board Diversity Policy 

shall be reviewed by the Nomination Committee, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties. Specific terms of reference are set out in 

the Terms of Reference of the Board of the Company and the relevant duties include the following:

1.	 to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

2.	 to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior 

management;

3.	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements;

4.	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees 

and directors; and

5.	 to review the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) 

set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions.

Confirmation has been sought from all Directors and they have complied with the required standard set out in the 

Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The Company has established the written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code relating to 

securities transactions for the relevant employees.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making 

contributions to the Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous professional development 

programme with appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in 2013 is 

recorded in the table below.

Type of Continuous
Professional Development

Name of Directors

Reading 
regulatory 

updates or 
information

Attending external 
seminar(s)/

workshop(s)/
programme(s)

   

Mr. Lam Foo Wah 3 –
Ms. So Siu Hang, Patricia 3 –
Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael 3 3

Professor Yeung Kwok Wing 3 –
Mr. Woo King Wai 3 –
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter 3 3

Mr. Leung Hok Lim 3 3

The Company Secretary updates directors on the latest developments and changes to the Listing Rules and the 

applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding subjects necessary in the discharge of their duties.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with support from the Finance Department, the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records and preparing accounts of each financial 

period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that 

period. In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2013, the Directors believe that they have 

selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are 

prudent and reasonable, and ensured the financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Cont’d)

Financial Reporting (Cont’d)
The final and interim results of the Company are announced in a timely manner within the limits of three months and 

two months respectively after the end of the relevant year or period.

A statement by the Auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 37 to 38.

Auditors’ Remuneration
The Group’s external auditor is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who perform audit and non-audit services for the year 

ended 31 December 2013. The Group paid or payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in respect of audit services fee 

of approximately HK$3,525,000 and non-audit services fee of approximately HK$542,000.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective internal control system of the Group. 

The Board conducts reviews of the effectiveness of the internal control system for the year ended 31 December 

2013 covering all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management 

functions by considering reviews performed by the Audit Committee, executive management and both the group 

internal audit department and external auditor. The Group’s system of internal control comprises a defined 

management structure with limits of authority, is designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard 

assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records for the 

provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with relevant 

legislation and regulations.

The system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or 

loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s 

objectives.

The criteria for the Board to assess the effectiveness of the system of internal control are listed below:

(i)	 Organisational Structure
	 An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines of responsibility and delegated 

authority has been already established.

(ii)	 Authority and Control
	 The relevant Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with respective levels of authorities 

with regard to key corporate strategy and policy and contractual commitments. The Board is responsible for 

handling and dissemination of price sensitive information through discussion and delegation of authority to 

the Company Secretary.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (Cont’d)

(iii)	 Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
	 Budgets are prepared annually by the senior management and are subject to review and approval of the 

Executive Directors prior to being adopted. There are procedures for the appraisal, review and approval 

of major capital and recurrent expenditure. Results of operations against budgets are reported regularly 

to the Executive Directors. Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate and timely 

accounting and management information. Regular reviews and audits are carried out to ensure that the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements is carried out in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable laws and regulations.

(iv)	S ystems and Procedures
	 Systems and procedures are set to identify, measure, manage and control risks including business, 

compliance, operational, financial and information services risks that may have an impact on the Group and 

each principal division. Exposure to these risks is monitored by the Executive Directors and the management 

of the respective principal divisions.

(v)	I nternal Audit
	 The group internal audit department performs independent reviews of the controls and risks identified 

to provide reasonable assurance to management of the Company and principal divisions and the Audit 

Committee that controls have been set in place and adequately addressed.

The group internal audit department monitors compliance with policies and procedures as well as the effectiveness 

of internal control structures across the Company and the Group. To preserve the independence of the group internal 

audit department, the group internal audit department reports directly to the Audit Committee. The group internal 

audit department plans its internal audit schedules annually in consultation with, but independent of, management 

of the Group and the principal divisions. In addition to its agreed annual schedule of work, the group internal audit 

department conducts other special reviews as required. As a key criterion of assessing the effectiveness of the 

internal control system, the Board and the Audit Committee actively monitor the number and seriousness of findings 

raised by the group internal audit department and also the corrective actions taken by relevant departments.

According to the 2013 internal audit reports, the Group’s internal control system is functioning effectively and there 

was no significant weakness found in the course of the audits carried out during the year. The Board, through the 

Audit Committee and the internal audit function, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control 

system and is of the view that there are no suspected frauds, irregularities, internal control deficiencies or suspected 

infringement of laws, rules and regulations that cause the Board to believe that the systems are ineffective or 

inadequate. The Board is satisfied that the Company and the Group have fully complied with the code provisions on 

internal control as set forth in the CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2013.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s 

affairs. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that 

Board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are followed. For the year ended 31 December 2013, 

the Company Secretary has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant 

professional training.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board recognises the importance of communication with our shareholders. In March 2012, the Company 

adopted a shareholders communication policy to set out the Company’s processes to provide shareholders and 

investment public with equal and timely information on the Company for them to make informed assessments of the 

Company’s strategy, operations and financial performance.

General Meeting
At 2013 AGM held:

(i)	 A separate resolution was proposed by the Chairman of that meeting in respect of each separate issue, 

including the re-election of directors.

(ii)	 The Chairman of the Board, and Chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination 

Committee, or in absence of the chairman of such committees, any member from the respective committees, 

attended the 2013 AGM to address shareholders queries.

(iii)	 External auditor attended the 2013 AGM and was available to assist the directors in addressing queries from 

shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of its auditor’s report.

(iv)	 The Chairman demanded poll on all resolutions. Tricor Secretaries Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch 

share registrar and transfer office, was engaged as scrutineer to ensure the votes were properly counted.

The 2014 AGM will be held at 10th Floor, High Fashion Centre, 1-11 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, 

Hong Kong on Friday, 6 June 2014 at 10:30 a.m. Notice of the 2014 AGM will be sent to all shareholders at least 20 

clear business days before the said meeting.

Voting by Poll
It was properly explained at the commencement of the 2013 AGM the procedures for conducting a poll.

At the 2014 AGM, the Chairman of the meeting will demand a poll on all the resolutions in accordance with the 

requirements of the Listing Rules. The poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the 

Company on the same day following the meeting.



Annual Report 2013 · High Fashion International Limited36

Corporate Governance Report
 

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for shareholders convening meetings
The Company holds a general meeting as its annual general meeting every year. Each general meeting, other than 

annual general meeting, shall be called a special general meeting (“SGM”).

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, the shareholders of the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the 

requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general 

meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board, to require a SGM to be 

called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. The written requisition must be 

deposited at 11th Floor, High Fashion Centre, 1-11 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong, the 

Company’s Head Office and Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Procedures for shareholders putting forward proposals
Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, any shareholder, who wishes to propose a person other than a retiring 

Director of the Company for election as a Director at a general meeting of the Company. The Company’s procedures 

for shareholders to propose a person for election as a director are available on the Company’s website.

Investor Relations
The Company establishes different communication channels with shareholders and investors: (i) shareholders can 

receive printed copies of corporate information, (ii) the general meeting provides a forum for shareholders to raise 

comments and exchange views with the Board, (iii) the Company’s website offers communication channel between 

the Company and its shareholders and investors; and (iv) the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and 

transfer office serve the shareholders respecting all share registration matters.

Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal 

channels, which include interim and annual reports, announcements, and circulars. Such published documents, 

together with the latest corporate information are also made available on the Company’s website. The corporate 

information and shareholders & investor relation information is set out on pages 129 to 130 of this annual report.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF HIGH FASHION INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

達利國際集團有限公司
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of High Fashion International Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 39 to 126, which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for 

the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial 

Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a 

true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to 

report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for 

no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents 

of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 

and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF HIGH FASHION INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (Cont’d)

達利國際集團有限公司
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 

as at 31 December 2013, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2014
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2013 2012

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Revenue 5 2,806,661 2,611,872

Cost of sales (2,170,202) (1,963,505)

Gross profit 636,459 648,367

Other income 121,327 100,139

Other gains and losses 7 192,354 142,654

Administrative expenses (346,897) (319,557)

Selling and distribution expenses (302,889) (318,785)

Finance costs 8 (62,643) (45,737)

Share of profits (losses) of joint ventures 18 50 (1,522)

Profit before taxation 237,761 205,559

Income tax expenses 10 (44,937) (35,728)

Profit for the year 11 192,824 169,831

Other comprehensive income (expense) 12

  Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

    Exchange differences arising on translation to 

      presentation currency 90,168 21,621

    Exchange differences arising on translation of joint ventures 667 127

  Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

    Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign 

      operations 752 (594)

    Fair value gain on hedging instruments in cash flow hedges 181,699 62,388

    Reclassification to profit and loss on realisation of cash flow 

      hedges (28,695) (35,623)

    Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified 

      subsequently (25,452) 2,513

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 219,139 50,432

Total comprehensive income for the year 411,963 220,263

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:

  Owners of the Company 194,483 170,116

  Non-controlling interests (1,659) (285)

192,824 169,831

Total comprehensive income (expense) attributable to:

  Owners of the Company 413,619 220,548

  Non-controlling interests (1,656) (285)

411,963 220,263

Earnings per share 14

  Basic HK$0.65 HK$0.57
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2013 2012

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

  Property, plant and equipment 15 840,607 836,530

  Prepaid lease payments 16 131,776 131,964

  Investment properties 17 959,403 665,576

  Investments in joint ventures 18 20,260 19,543

  Available-for-sale investments, at cost 675 675

  Deposit placed and prepayment of premium for a life insurance 19 26,723 26,843

  Derivative financial instruments 20 67,288 5,830

  Deferred tax assets 33 39,728 33,192

2,086,460 1,720,153

Current assets

  Inventories 21 537,422 427,302

  Trade receivables 22 426,178 416,892

  Bills receivable 23 41,855 34,412

  Prepaid lease payments 16 3,473 2,478

  Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 24 115,840 177,078

  Amounts due from joint ventures 25 945 763

  Tax recoverable 121,854 98,818

  Derivative financial instruments 20 88,364 21,351

  Structured deposits 26 1,442,333 877,634

  Short-term deposits 27 270,186 452,231

  Bank balances and cash 28 986,583 767,229

4,035,033 3,276,188
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2013 2012

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities

  Trade payables 29 356,020 312,810

  Bills payable 29 343 1,134

  Other payables and accruals 215,863 221,481

  Amount due to an associate 30 589 589

  Tax payable 173,963 169,232

  Derivative financial instruments 20 2,494 10,565

  Obligations under finance leases 31 86 162

  Bank borrowings 32 2,417,710 1,846,045

  Bank overdrafts 32 – 192

3,167,068 2,562,210

Net current assets 867,965 713,978

Total assets less current liabilities 2,954,425 2,434,131

Non-current liabilities

  Obligations under finance leases 31 78 161

  Bank borrowings 32 117,999 –

  Deferred tax liabilities 33 181,998 126,842

  Derivative financial instruments 20 5,750 11,082

  Provision for long service payments 34 3,431 3,397

309,256 141,482

Net assets 2,645,169 2,292,649

Capital and reserves

  Share capital 35 29,721 29,721

  Share premium and reserves 2,616,623 2,262,447

  Equity attributable to owners of the Company 2,646,344 2,292,168

  Non-controlling interests (1,175) 481

Total equity 2,645,169 2,292,649

The consolidated financial statements on pages 39 to 126 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors on 26 March 2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

Lam Foo Wah So Siu Hang, Patricia

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 237,761 205,559

Adjustments for:

  Net reversal of allowance for inventory obsolescence (4,226) (1,187)

  Net allowance for bad and doubtful debts 3,753 2,414

  Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 3,444 2,438

  Finance costs 62,643 45,737

  Share of (profits) losses of joint ventures (50) 1,522

  Interest income (80,227) (67,855)

  Increase in fair value of investment properties (158,445) (105,593)

  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 82,243 77,272

  Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

    prepaid lease payments (373) (6,714)

  Realisation of cash flow hedges reclassified from 

    other comprehensive income (28,695) (35,623)

  Impairment loss recognised in respect of amount 

    due from a joint venture 571 4,463

  Impairment loss recognised in respect of deposits, 

    prepayments and other receivables 1,589 –

  Net impairment loss recognised in respect of property, 

    plant and equipment 460 3,223

  Provision for long service payments 34 51

  Unrealised gain on fair value changes in derivative financial instruments (6,724) (19,166)

  Exchange difference on translation of intra group balances – (610)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 113,758 105,931

(Increase) decrease in inventories (99,685) 22,529

Increase in trade receivables (10,114) (10,403)

(Increase) decrease in bills receivable (7,443) 19,547

Decrease in deposits, prepayments and other receivables 5,045 4,891

Increase in trade payables 38,518 3,098

(Decrease) increase in bills payable (791) 1,134

Decrease in other payables and accruals (2,804) (43,172)

Decrease in amounts due to joint ventures – (1,647)

Long service payments utilised – (29)

Net change in derivative financial instruments 46,549 95,034

(Increase) decrease in discounted bills with recourse (2,077) 13,904

Cash generated from operations 80,956 210,817

Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (25,494) (11,424)

Overseas taxes paid (15,660) (15,320)

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 39,802 184,073



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Annual Report 2013 · High Fashion International Limited 45

2013 2012

NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

New structured deposits placed (1,388,176) (874,394)

New short-term deposits placed (246,679) (388,225)

Withdrawal of long term bank deposits – 527

Withdrawal of short-term deposits 429,808 389,567

Withdrawal of structured deposits 877,634 417,753

Interest received 46,539 67,855

Advance to independent third parties (25,316) (47,205)

Repayment from independent third parties 72,521 24,774

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and 

  prepaid lease payments (63,312) (57,936)

Government grant received in respect of 

  prepaid lease payments acquired in prior year – 14,227

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

  prepaid lease payments 11,630 1,595

Additions to investment properties (122,321) –

Acquisition of a subsidiary 41 – (9,330)

Repayment from joint ventures 19 196

Advance to joint ventures (772) (4,736)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (408,425) (465,332)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New bank borrowings raised 2,272,904 1,276,751

Repayment of bank borrowings (1,591,537) (940,733)

Interest paid (54,690) (40,730)

Bank charges paid (6,575) (4,983)

Capital contribution from non-controlling interests – 766

Dividends paid by the Company (59,443) (59,443)

Payment for repurchase of shares – (10,222)

Repayments of obligations under finance leases (162) (330)

Interest paid on obligations under finance leases (24) (24)

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 560,473 221,052

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 191,850 (60,207)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 767,037 820,225

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES, NET 27,696 7,019

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 986,583 767,037

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash 986,583 767,229

Bank overdrafts – (192)

986,583 767,037
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1.	 GENERAL
The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are 

listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered 

office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed on page 129 to the annual report.

As at 31 December 2013, Hinton Company Limited and High Fashion Charitable Foundation Limited, 

companies ultimately owned by Mr. Lam Foo Wah (“Mr. Lam”), the Chairman and Managing Director of the 

Company, and Mr. Lam collectively owns 50.72% of ordinary shares of the Company and holds the same 

percentage of voting rights in the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Lam is considered as the ultimate controlling 

party of the Company.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”), the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the Company and its major subsidiaries operates. For the purpose of the preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements and conveniences of the financial statements users, the results and 

financial position of the Group are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”).

The Company acts as investment holding company. The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture, 

retailing and trading of garments.

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2009 – 2011 cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Amendments to HKFRS 10,

  HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12

Consolidated financial statements, joint arrangements and

  disclosure of interests in other entities: Transition guidance

HKFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements

HKFRS 11 Joint arrangements

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee benefits

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate financial statements

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in associates and joint ventures

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of items of other comprehensive income

HK(IFRIC) – INT 20 Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no 

material impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on 

the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
The Group has applied the amendments to HKFRS 7 “Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial 

liabilities” for the first time in the current year. The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose 

information about:

(a)	 recognised financial instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: 

Presentation; and

(b)	 recognised financial instruments that are subject to an enforceable master netting agreement or similar 

agreement, irrespective of whether the financial instruments are set off in accordance with HKAS 32.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose information about rights of offset and related 

arrangements for financial instruments under an enforceable master netting agreement or similar agreement. 

The Group has not offset any recognised financial instruments but the Group has derivative financial 

instruments that are under enforceable master netting agreements.

The amendments have been applied retrospectively and the relevant disclosures are set out in note 39.

New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and 

disclosures
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the package of five standards on consolidation, 

joint arrangements, associates and disclosures comprising HKFRS 10 “Consolidated financial statements”, 

HKFRS 11 “Joint arrangements”, HKFRS 12 “Disclosure of interests in other entities”, HKAS 27 (as revised 

in 2011) “Separate financial statements” and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) “Investments in associates and 

joint ventures”, together with the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12 regarding transitional 

guidance.

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) is not applicable to the Group as it deals only with separate financial 

statements.

The impact of the application of these standards is set out below.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Cont’d)

New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and 

disclosures (Cont’d)

Impact of the application of HKFRS 10
HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated and separate financial statements” that deal with 

consolidated financial statements and HK(SIC) – INT 12 “Consolidation – special purpose entities”. HKFRS 

10 changes the definition of control such that an investor has control over an investee when a) it has power 

over the investee, b) it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

and c) has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. All three of these criteria must be met for an 

investor to have control over an investee. Previously, control was defined as the power to govern the financial 

and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Additional guidance has been 

included in HKFRS 10 to explain when an investor has control over an investee.

The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the Group’s investees in accordance with the 

requirements of HKFRS 10. The directors of the Company concluded that there was no impact to the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements for the adoption of HKFRS 10.

Impact of the application of HKFRS 11
HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in joint ventures”, and the guidance contained in a related 

interpretation, HK(SIC) – INT 13 “Jointly controlled entities – non-monetary contributions by venturers”, has 

been incorporated in HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011). HKFRS 11 deals with how a joint arrangement of which 

two or more parties have joint control should be classified and accounted for. Under HKFRS 11, there are only 

two types of joint arrangements – joint operations and joint ventures. The classification of joint arrangements 

under HKFRS 11 is determined based on the rights and obligations of parties to the joint arrangements by 

considering the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the contractual terms agreed by the parties to 

the arrangement, and, when relevant, other facts and circumstances. A joint operation is a joint arrangement 

whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement (i.e. joint operators) have rights to the assets, 

and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby 

the parties that have joint control of the arrangement (i.e. joint venturers) have rights to the net assets of the 

arrangement. Previously, HKAS 31 had three types of joint arrangements – jointly controlled entities, jointly 

controlled operations and jointly controlled assets. The classification of joint arrangements under HKAS 31 

was primarily determined based on the legal form of the arrangement (e.g. a joint arrangement that was 

established through a separate entity was classified as a jointly controlled entity).

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Cont’d)

New and revised Standards on consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and 

disclosures (Cont’d)

Impact of the application of HKFRS 11 (Cont’d)
The directors of the Company reviewed and assessed the classification of the Group’s investments in joint 

arrangements in accordance with the requirements of HKFRS 11. The directors of the Company concluded 

that the Group’s investments in Hangzhou Dalifu Silk Finishing Co., Ltd., Suzhou High Fashion Garment Co., 

Ltd., The Silk Passion Company Limited and Flaming China Limited, which were classified as jointly controlled 

entities under HKAS 31 and were accounted for using the equity method, should be classified as joint 

ventures under HKFRS 11 and continuously accounted for using the equity method. There was no impact to 

the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the adoption of HKFRS 11.

Impact of the application of HKFRS 12
HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint 

arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the application of HKFRS 12 

has resulted in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial statements (please see notes 18, 30 

and 48 for details).

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement
The Group has applied HKFRS 13 for the first time in the current year. HKFRS 13 establishes a single source 

of guidance for, and disclosures about, fair value measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is broad: the fair 

value measurement requirements of HKFRS 13 apply to both financial instrument items and non-financial 

instrument items for which other HKFRSs require or permit fair value measurements and disclosures about 

fair value measurements, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 

Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements 

that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. net realisable value for the purposes of 

measuring inventories or value in use for impairment assessment purposes).

HKFRS 13 defines fair value of an asset as the price that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to 

transfer a liability, in the case of determining the fair value of a liability) in an orderly transaction in the principal 

(or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions. A fair value 

measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would 

use the asset in its highest and best use. Fair value under HKFRS 13 is an exit price regardless of whether 

that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. Also, HKFRS 13 includes 

extensive disclosure requirements.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Cont’d)

HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement (Cont’d)
HKFRS 13 requires prospective application. In accordance with the transitional provisions of HKFRS 13, the 

Group has not made any new disclosures required by HKFRS 13 for the 2012 comparative period (please see 

notes 17 and 38 for the 2013 disclosures). Other than the additional disclosures, the application of HKFRS 

13 has not had any material impact on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of items of other comprehensive income
The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 1 “Presentation of items of other comprehensive income”. 

Upon the adoption of the amendments to HKAS 1, the Group’s ‘statement of comprehensive income’ is 

renamed as the ‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income’. Furthermore, the amendments 

to HKAS 1 require additional disclosures to be made in the other comprehensive income section such that 

items of other comprehensive income are grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when 

specific conditions are met. Income tax on items of other comprehensive income is required to be allocated 

on the same basis – the amendments do not change the option to present items of other comprehensive 

income either before tax or net of tax. The amendments have been applied retrospectively, and hence the 

presentation of items of other comprehensive income has been modified to reflect the changes. Other than 

the above mentioned presentation changes, the application of the amendments to HKAS 1 does not result in 

any impact on profit or loss, other comprehensive income and total comprehensive income.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 

effective.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2010 – 2012 cycle4

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2011 – 2013 cycle2

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments3

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Mandatory effective date of HKFRS 9 and transition disclosures3

Amendments to HKFRS 10, 

  HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Investment entities1

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions2

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities1

Amendments to HKAS 36 Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets1

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of derivatives and continuation of hedge accounting1

HK(IFRIC) – INT 21 Levies1

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014.
3	 Available for application – the mandatory effective date will be determined when the outstanding phases of HKFRS 

9 are finalised.
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with limited exceptions.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments
HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 

assets. HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include the requirements for the classification and 

measurement of financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further amended in 2013 to include the new 

requirements for hedge accounting.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

•	 all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition 

and measurement” are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt 

investments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash 

flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting 

periods. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair values at the 

end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable 

election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for 

trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or 

loss.

•	 With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, 

HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable 

to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the 

recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would 

create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value of financial liabilities 

attributable to changes in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit 

or loss. Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability 

designated as fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

•	 The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge accounting. However, 

greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, 

specifically broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types 

of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the 

effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. 

Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure 

requirements about an entity’s risk management activities have also been introduced.

The directors anticipate that the application of HKFRS 9 in the future may have an impact on the amounts 

reported in respect of the Groups’ available-for sale investments. Specifically, HKFRS 9 requires available-

for-sale equity investments be measured at fair values with changes in fair value being accounted for either 

in the profit or loss or other comprehensive income. In addition, the application of amendments to HKFRS 

9 may also have an impact on the Group’s financial instruments under hedge accounting. However, it is not 

practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been completed.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues relating to the offset of financial assets and 

financial liabilities requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning of ‘currently has a legally 

enforceable right of set-off’ and ‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these amendments to HKAS 32 will not 

have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group does not have any 

financial assets and financial liabilities that qualify for offset.

3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the 

HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment 

properties and certain financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting 

period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 

services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly 

observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, 

the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take 

those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. A fair value 

measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would 

use the asset in its highest and best use. Fair value under HKFRS 13 is an exit price regardless of whether 

that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. Fair value for measurement 

and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except 

for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are 

within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 

value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance 

of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 

entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 

controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

•	 has power over the investee;

•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed 

of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company 

and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of 

the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 

deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in joint ventures
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of 

an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of 

the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial 

statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of joint ventures used for 

equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like 

transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture 

is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to 

recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. When 

the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture (which includes 

any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in joint venture), the Group 

discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that 

the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 

becomes a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the 

investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee 

is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 

Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after 

reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment 

loss with respect to the Group’s investment in a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of 

the investment is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of assets” as a single asset 

by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying 

amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of 

that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of 

the investment subsequently increases.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts 

receivable for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and title has passed, at which 

time all the following conditions are satisfied:

•	 the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

•	 the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

•	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

•	 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

•	 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 

the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, 

by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that 

exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that 

asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is described in the accounting 

policy for leasing below.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and buildings held for use in the production or supply 

of goods, or for administrative purposes, other than construction in progress, are stated in the consolidated 

statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, 

less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing 

costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the 

appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. 

Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are 

ready for their intended use.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other than construction in progress, less their 

residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, 

residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 

any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as 

owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of 

the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 

benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal 

or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including properties 

under construction for such purposes). Investment properties include land held for undetermined future use, 

which is regarded as held for capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses 

arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in 

which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under construction are capitalised as part of the 

carrying amount of the investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss 

arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is 

derecognised.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 

the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception of 

the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the 

lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised 

immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are 

capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see the accounting policy 

below). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 

where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 

the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an 

expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised 

as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-

line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 

economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building
When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each 

element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether substantially 

all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group, unless 

it is clear that both elements are operating lease in which case the entire lease is classified as an operating 

lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated 

between the land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests 

in the land element and building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Leasing (Cont’d)

Leasehold land and building (Cont’d)
To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is 

accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated statement 

of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis except for those that are 

classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the lease payments 

cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, the entire lease is generally classified as 

a finance lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Foreign currencies
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than 

the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing 

on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that 

are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value 

was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 

not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 

foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using 

exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated 

at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading of “translation reserve”.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 

are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 

added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use 

or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 

qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before 

taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable 

or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable 

profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 

are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable 

profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets 

and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a 

business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 

the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries and interests in joint arrangements, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 

temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and 

interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 

which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable 

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 

which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 

the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 

amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Taxation (Cont’d)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using the fair value 

model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless 

the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and 

is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits 

embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised 

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 

conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group 

recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, 

government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise 

acquire non-current assets are recognised as a deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset in 

the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational 

basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the 

purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in 

profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from the development phase of 

an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

•	 the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

•	 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

•	 the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

•	 how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

•	 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and 

to use or sell the intangible asset; and

•	 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred 

from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-

generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in 

the period in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible asset is 

measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same 

basis the intangible asset that is acquired separately.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on 

a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 

estimated cost of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Retirement benefit costs
Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-managed retirement benefit schemes are 

recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets 

or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of 

the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets include loans and receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

(“FVTPL”) and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 

financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 

allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 

interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 

asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for loans and receivables.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at FVTPL when it is a derivative that is not designated and 

effective as hedging instruments; or it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, 

and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 

recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in the profit or loss excludes any interest earned 

on the financial assets and is included in other income line item. Fair value is determined in the manner 

described in note 38.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and bills 

receivables, deposits and other receivables, amounts due from joint ventures, short-term deposits and bank 

balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment (see 

accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or not 

classified as loans and receivables or financial assets at FVTPL. The Group designated certain items of 

financial assets that are acquired for long term investments as available-for-sale financial assets.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose 

fair value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of 

such unquoted equity instruments are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of 

each reporting period (see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the 

reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that, as 

a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated 

future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of that 

investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

•	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

•	 breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest and principal payments; or

•	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)
For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be 

impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of 

impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, 

an increase in the number of delayed payments, observable changes in national or local economic conditions 

that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 

the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted 

at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in 

subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets 

with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 

allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or 

loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses was 

recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the 

carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost 

would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 

instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 

financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 

deducting all of its liabilities.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Annual Report 2013 · High Fashion International Limited66

3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as financial liabilities at FVTPL when it is a derivative that is not designated 

and effective as hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 

recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest paid on the 

financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, other payables, amount due to an associate, bank 

overdrafts and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 

method.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 

allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No 

gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own 

equity instruments.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when a derivative contract is entered into and 

are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss 

is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging 

instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 

relationship.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Annual Report 2013 · High Fashion International Limited 67

3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging (Cont’d)

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of cash flow hedges, which are hedges of highly probable 

forecast transactions with group companies and external customers for foreign currency risk exposure and 

hedges of interest rate risk associated with the Group’s floating rate bank borrowings. For hedges of foreign 

currency exposure, the hedged item represents highly probable forecast transactions which are denominated 

in a currency other than the functional currency of respective group entity entering into the transactions and 

the foreign currency risk under the hedging arrangement will affect the profit or loss. For hedges of interest 

rate risk, the hedged item is the Group’s floating rate bank borrowing and the risk being hedged represents 

the volatility in interest payments resulted from changes in interest rates.

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging 

instrument and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking 

various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group 

documents whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in 

offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 

hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve. The gain or loss 

relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss as other gains or losses.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) 

are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss, in the 

same line of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as the recognised 

hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument 

expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or 

loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and 

is recognised when the hedged risk is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is 

no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or 

loss.
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3.	SI GNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 

expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the asset to another entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 

transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liability when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 

consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on tangible assets
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets with finite 

useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 

any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 

of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 

asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated 

to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 

units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 

use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 

the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An 

impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is 

increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised 

for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.
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4.	 C R ITI   C A L  J UD  G E M ENTS    A ND  K EY  S O U R C ES  O F ESTI    M ATI  O N 

UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the 

Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ 

from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 

or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 

at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for inventories
Management of the Group reviews an aging analysis at the end of the reporting period, and makes 

allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items identified that are not suitable for use in current 

production. Management estimates the net realisable value for such raw materials, work in progress and 

finished goods based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions. However, given 

the competitiveness of the industry, these prices may subsequently be affected. The Group carries out an 

inventory review on a product-by-product basis at the end of the reporting period and makes allowance for 

these items. At end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of inventories is HK$537,422,000 (2012: 

HK$427,302,000).

Income taxes
The Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (“IRD”) initiated a tax audit on certain group companies for the 

years of assessment 1999/2000 onwards. Since the tax audit is still at a fact-finding stage with different views 

being exchanged with the IRD, the outcome of the tax audit cannot be readily ascertained with any degree of 

accuracy. In the opinion of directors, the provisions so made are adequate. In cases where the tax charged 

by IRD are different from the estimated amounts, a material tax charge may arise (see note 10 for details).

Allowance for trade receivables
Management of the Group reviews an aging analysis, repayment history of its trade receivables and takes 

into consideration the estimation of future cash flows to determine allowance for trade receivables. Where 

the actual future cash flows are less than expected, impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 

2013, the carrying amount of trade receivables is HK$426,178,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts 

of HK$29,711,000) (2012: carrying amount of HK$416,892,000, net of allowance for doubtful debts of 

HK$27,787,000).
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4.	 C R ITI   C A L  J UD  G E M ENTS    A ND  K EY  S O U R C ES  O F ESTI    M ATI  O N 

UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Fair value of investment properties
The Group appointed independent qualified professional valuers to determine the fair values of investment 

properties of the Group. Upon application of HKFRS 13, the valuers have applied the highest and best 

use basis from the perspective of market participants. The valuation involves, inter-alia, certain estimates, 

including comparable market transactions, appropriate capitalisation rates and reversionary income potential 

and redevelopment potential. In relying on the valuation, management has exercised its judgment and is 

satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions. As at 31 December 2013, 

the carrying amount of investment properties is HK$959,403,000 (2012: HK$665,576,000).

5.	 REVENUE
Revenue represents the amount received and receivable for goods sold by the Group, net of discount and 

sales related tax. An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Manufacture and trading of garments 2,286,551 1,997,276

Brand business 520,110 614,596

2,806,661 2,611,872
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6.	SE GMENT INFORMATION
Information reported to the chief operating decision maker, the Group’s executive directors, for the purposes 

of resource allocation and performance assessment, is analysed based on the types of goods sold, including 

(i) manufacture and trading of garments and (ii) brand business, representing sales of branded garments 

developed by the Group.

The Group’s operating and reporting segments are (i) manufacture and trading of garments and (ii) brand 

business.

Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2013

Manufacture 

and trading 

of garments

Brand 

business

Segment 

total Eliminations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE

External sales 2,286,551 520,110 2,806,661 – 2,806,661

Inter-segment sales (Note) 179,498 – 179,498 (179,498) –

Segment revenue 2,466,049 520,110 2,986,159 (179,498) 2,806,661

RESULT

Segment profit (loss) 333,436 (26,669) 306,767 (6,363) 300,404

Finance costs (62,643)

Profit before taxation 237,761
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6.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Segment revenues and results (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2012 (Restated)

Manufacture 

and trading 

of garments

Brand 

business

Segment 

total Eliminations Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

REVENUE

External sales 1,997,276 614,596 2,611,872 – 2,611,872

Inter-segment sales (Note) 193,855 – 193,855 (193,855) –

Segment revenue 2,191,131 614,596 2,805,727 (193,855) 2,611,872

RESULT

Segment profit (loss) 285,299 (30,183) 255,116 (3,820) 251,296

Finance costs (45,737)

Profit before taxation 205,559

Note:	 Inter-segment sales are charged at agreed terms set out in the subcontracting agreement entered into between 

group companies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described 

in note 3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of finance costs. 

This is the measure reported to the Company’s executive directors for the purposes of resources allocation 

and performance assessment. Furthermore, as the assets and liabilities for operating segments are not 

provided to the Company’s executive directors for the purposes of resources allocation and performance 

assessment, no segment assets and liabilities are presented accordingly.
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6.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Manufacture 

and trading 

of garments

Brand 

business Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the measure of 

  segment profit or loss:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 74,079 8,164 82,243

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 3,444 – 3,444

Net allowance for (reversal of allowance for) 

  bad and doubtful debts 3,965 (212) 3,753

Net (reversal of allowance for) allowance for 

  inventory obsolescence* (10,629) 6,403 (4,226)

Impairment loss in respect of amount due from 

  a joint venture 571 – 571

Net impairment loss in respect of property, plant and 

  equipment 460 – 460

Impairment loss in respect of deposits, prepayments and 

  other receivables – 1,589 1,589

Fair value gain of derivative financial instruments 18,489 – 18,489

Increase (decrease) in fair value of investment properties 158,458 (13) 158,445

Gain (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,386 (1,013) 373

Share of profits of joint ventures 50 – 50
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6.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Other segment information (Cont’d)
For the year ended 31 December 2012

Manufacture 

and trading 

of garments

Brand 

business Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the measure of 

  segment profit or loss:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 65,289 11,983 77,272

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 2,438 – 2,438

Net allowance for bad and doubtful debts 1,966 448 2,414

Net allowance for (reversal of allowance for) 

  inventory obsolescence* 2,368 (3,555) (1,187)

Impairment loss in respect of amount due from 

  a joint venture 4,463 – 4,463

Net impairment loss in respect of property, plant and 

  equipment 3,223 – 3,223

Fair value gain of derivative financial instruments 38,761 – 38,761

Increase in fair value of investment properties 105,419 174 105,593

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

  prepaid lease payments 6,714 – 6,714

Share of losses of joint ventures 1,522 – 1,522

*	 Allowance for obsolete inventory was written back when the relevant inventory was sold.
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6.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located in the United States of America (“USA”), Europe, Greater China and other 

areas.

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its non-current assets by geographical 

location of the assets are detailed below:

Revenue non-current assets

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

USA 1,278,555 1,202,681 797 1,242

Europe 510,480 525,397 722 951

Greater China 781,667 692,931 1,930,237 1,631,796

Others 235,959 190,863 30 81

2,806,661 2,611,872 1,931,786 1,634,070

Note:	 Non-current assets excluded investments in joint ventures, available-for-sale investments, deferred tax assets, 

deposit placed and prepayment of premium for a life insurance and derivative financial instruments.

Information about major customer
There is a customer from manufacture and trading of garments segment contributes over 10% of the total 

revenue of the Group whose revenue is approximately HK$283 million (2012: HK$269 million).
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7.	 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

  prepaid lease payments 373 6,714

Net allowance for bad and doubtful debts (3,753) (2,414)

Changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments 18,489 38,761

Net foreign exchange gains 21,420 1,686

Increase in fair value of investment properties 158,445 105,593

Impairment loss recognised

  – property, plant and equipment, net (460) (3,223)

  – amount due from a joint venture (571) (4,463)

  – deposits, prepayments and other receivables (1,589) –

192,354 142,654

8.	 FINANCE COSTS

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interests on:

  Bank borrowings and overdrafts wholly repayable 

    within five years* 56,044 40,730

  Finance leases 24 24

Bank charges 6,575 4,983

62,643 45,737

*	 Included realisation of cash flow hedges reclassified from other comprehensive income of HK$1,414,000 (2012: 

HK$1,325,000).
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9.	DI RECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of seven (2012: seven) directors were as follows:

Other emoluments
 

Fees

Salaries and 

other benefits

Retirement 

benefits 

scheme 

contributions

Performance 

related 

incentive 

payments

Total 

emoluments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2013

Lam Foo Wah 200 5,055 15 3,500 8,770

So Siu Hang, Patricia 200 2,390 15 1,300 3,905

Chan Wah Tip, Michael 200 – – – 200

Woo King Wai 200 – – – 200

Wong Shui Hoi, Peter 200 – – – 200

Leung Hok Lim 200 – – – 200

Yeung Kwok Wing 200 – – – 200

Total for 2013 1,400 7,445 30 4,800 13,675

Other emoluments

Fees

Salaries and 

other benefits

Retirement 

benefits 

scheme 

contributions

Performance 

related 

incentive 

payments

Total 

emoluments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2012

Lam Foo Wah 200 5,056 14 3,500 8,770

So Siu Hang, Patricia 200 2,391 14 1,300 3,905

Chan Wah Tip, Michael 200 – – – 200

Woo King Wai 200 – – – 200

Wong Shui Hoi, Peter 200 – – – 200

Leung Hok Lim 200 – – – 200

Yeung Kwok Wing 200 – – – 200

Total for 2012 1,400 7,447 28 4,800 13,675
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9.	DI RECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEE’S EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

Directors’ emoluments (Cont’d)
The performance related incentive payment is determined by reference to the individual performance of the 

directors and approved by the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lam Foo Wah is also the Managing Director of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above include 

those for services rendered by him as the Managing Director.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as compensation for loss of office 

or an inducement to join or upon joining the Group. None of the directors has waived any emoluments in both 

years.

Employee’s emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2012: two) were directors whose 

emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2012: three) individuals were as 

follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 4,830 4,834

Retirement benefits scheme contributions 45 41

Performance related incentive payments 2,600 3,000

7,475 7,875

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2013 2012

No. of employees No. of employees

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 –

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 – 2

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2 1

3 3
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10.	IN COME TAX EXPENSES

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax charge:

  Hong Kong (8,300) (15,131)

  PRC (13,404) (6,530)

  Other jurisdictions (167) (136)

  Withholding tax paid in respect of distribution of earnings of 

    PRC subsidiaries – (6,086)

(21,871) (27,883)

Over(under)provision in prior years:

  Hong Kong 6,111 10,552

  PRC (6,488) (1,507)

  Other jurisdictions (303) (170)

(680) 8,875

Deferred taxation (note 33) – current year (22,386) (16,720)

(44,937) (35,728)

The IRD has initiated a tax audit on certain group companies for the years of assessment from 1999/2000 

onwards. As a matter of IRD’s practice, the IRD has issued estimated/additional assessments (“Assessments”) 

demanding for tax to the relevant group companies for the years of assessment 1999/2000 to 2006/2007. 

During the course of the tax audit, there may be a possibility that estimated additional assessments for 

subsequent years be issued by the IRD to these group companies.

Up to 31 December 2013, the Group has purchased tax reserve cert i f icates of approximately 

HK$121,101,000 (2012: HK$98,065,000) for conditional standover order of objection against the notices 

of Assessments for the years of assessment 1999/2000 to 2006/2007 and the amount is included in tax 

recoverable.

Other than the tax audit, one of the companies of the Group has also purchased a tax reserve certificate 

of approximately HK$753,000 (2012: HK$753,000) for conditional standover order of objection against the 

notice of Assessment for the year 2006/2007 and the amount is included in tax recoverable.

Since the tax audit is still at a fact-finding stage with different views being exchanged with the IRD, the 

outcome of the tax audit cannot be readily ascertained with reasonable accuracy. The management has in 

the current year followed the same basis for making provision as adopted in prior years. In the opinion of the 

directors, the provisions so made are adequate for the purpose mentioned above.
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10.	IN COME TAX EXPENSES (Cont’d)
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of 

the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards, except for High 

Fashion (China) Co., Ltd. and High Fashion Silk (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd. which had been recognised as advanced 

technology enterprises by the PRC tax Bureau in 2011 and 2012, respectively. They are subject to an income 

tax rate of 15% for three years starting from the year being recognised as advanced technology enterprises.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 237,761 205,559

Tax at the income tax rate of 16.5% (39,231) (33,917)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating 

  in other jurisdictions (3,559) (1,212)

Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures 8 (251)

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 7,863 5,781

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose (12,143) (10,815)

Tax effect of deferred tax assets not recognised (6,544) (5,493)

Withholding tax on undistributed earnings of 

  the PRC subsidiaries (Note 33) (12,000) (6,000)

Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 15,570 2,221

(Under)overprovision in prior years (680) 8,875

Tax relief relates to additional tax deductions on research

  and development costs incurred and amount spent on

  acquisition of plant and equipment made in the PRC 6,600 6,683

Others (821) (1,600)

Income tax expenses (44,937) (35,728)
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11.	P ROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Cost of inventories recognised as expenses 
  (included in cost of sales) (note i) 2,174,428 1,979,042
Depreciation and amortisation
  Owned assets 82,126 77,013
  Leased assets 117 259
  Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 3,444 2,438

85,687 79,710
Net reversal of allowance for inventory obsolescence 
  (included in cost of sales) (Note ii) (4,226) (1,187)
Auditor’s remuneration 3,525 3,525
Minimum lease payments in respect of land and buildings 35,137 43,687
Contingent rental expense (Note iii) 22,776 23,098
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
  Wages, salaries and bonuses 589,260 531,846
  Retirement benefits scheme contributions 16,742 15,957

606,002 547,803
Realisation of cash flow hedges reclassified from 
  other comprehensive income (Note iv) (30,109) (36,948)
Realisation of cash flow hedges reclassified from 
  other comprehensive income (included in finance costs) 1,414 1,325
Research and development costs recognised as an expense 
  (included in cost of sales) 80,005 74,934
Gross rental income from investment properties 
  (included in other income) (29,927) (22,947)
Less: Outgoings for investment properties rented out 
  (included in administrative expenses) 4,803 3,693
Net rental income (25,124) (19,254)
Government grants (included in other income) (Note v) (10,795) (8,401)
Investment income earned on loans and receivables 
  (included in other income)
  – bank interest income (32,440) (27,078)
  – interest income on other receivables (4,597) (3,535)

(37,037) (30,613)
Investment income earned on derivative financial instruments 
  (included in other income)
  – interest income from structured deposits (43,190) (37,242)
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11.	P ROFIT FOR THE YEAR (Cont’d)
Notes:

(i)	 Amounts of HK$2,174,428,000 (2012: HK$1,979,042,000) has been arrived at before deducting net reversal of 

allowance for inventory obsolescence of HK$4,226,000 (2012: HK$1,187,000).

(ii)	 Allowance for obsolete inventory was written back when the relevant inventory was sold.

(iii)	 The contingent rental expenses are determined based on a certain percentage of the gross sales of the relevant 

shops when the sales meet certain specified level.

(iv)	 Amounts of HK$30,109,000 (2012: HK$22,598,000) and none (2012: HK$14,350,000) are included in sales and 

cost of sales, respectively.

(v)	 The amounts represent subsidies received from PRC government for the purposes of encouraging the Group to 

expand its business in PRC. There are no conditions attached to the subsidies granted to the Group and the grants 

are not related to capital expenditures.

12.	 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (EXPENSE)

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flow hedges:

  Fair value gain on hedging instruments 181,699 62,388

  Reclassification adjustments upon recognition of hedged items 

    in profit or loss (28,695) (35,623)

153,004 26,765

Exchange differences arising on translation of joint ventures 667 127

Exchange differences arising on translation to presentation 

  currency 90,168 21,621

Exchange differences arising on translation to foreign operations 752 (594)

Other comprehensive income 244,591 47,919

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income:

  – fair value changes on hedging instruments on cash flow hedge (30,256) (57)

  – reclassification adjustments of fair value changes of 

      hedging instrument to profit or loss 4,804 2,570

(25,452) 2,513

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 219,139 50,432



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Annual Report 2013 · High Fashion International Limited 83

13.	DIVIDENDS

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividend recognised as distribution and paid during the year:

Interim dividend – 5 HK cents per ordinary share for 2013 

  (2012: 5 HK cents for 2012) 14,861 14,861

Final dividend – 15 HK cents per ordinary share for 2012 

  (2012: 15 HK cents for 2011) 44,582 44,582

59,443 59,443

The final dividend of HK15 cents (2012: HK15 cents) per ordinary share was proposed by the directors and is 

subject to the approval by the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The 2013 

final dividend will be paid in cash, with the shareholders being given an option to elect to receive in respect of 

part or all of such dividend by way of scrip.

14.	E ARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following 

data:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings per share attributable 

  to owners of the Company 194,483 170,116

2013 2012

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 

  basic earnings per share 297,213,550 297,299,861

No presentation of diluted earnings per share as there is no potential ordinary shares outstanding during the 

years or at the end of the respective reporting periods.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2013

Annual Report 2013 · High Fashion International Limited84

15.	P ROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 

land 

(in Hong 

Kong)

Buildings 

(in Hong 

Kong)

Buildings 

(outside 

Hong 

Kong)

Construction 

in progress

Leasehold 

improvements

Plant and 

equipment

Furniture 

and 

fixtures

Motor 

vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST

At 1 January 2012 5,058 13,886 593,175 29,579 162,658 526,829 173,196 30,966 1,535,347

Additions – – 2,068 21,937 8,373 12,697 9,184 3,109 57,368

Transfers – – 14,804 (43,122) 614 27,704 – – –

Disposals – – (3,039) (3,279) (12,599) (6,852) (3,030) (3,681) (32,480)

Exchange realignment – – 3,426 46 1,017 3,107 891 220 8,707

At 31 December 2012 5,058 13,886 610,434 5,161 160,063 563,485 180,241 30,614 1,568,942

Additions – – 18,293 18,006 6,899 8,548 9,957 1,609 63,312

Transfers – – – (17,210) 467 12,936 3,807 – –

Disposals – – – – (27,824) (18,755) (1,225) (1,680) (49,484)

Exchange realignment – – 18,805 364 4,983 16,237 4,869 669 45,927

At 31 December 2013 5,058 13,886 647,532 6,321 144,588 582,451 197,649 31,212 1,628,697

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 

  AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2012 1,279 4,511 85,048 3,360 134,754 304,810 119,348 23,685 676,795

Provided for the year 105 278 14,504 – 8,541 36,054 15,533 2,257 77,272

Eliminated on disposals – – (738) (3,279) (12,599) (6,467) (2,812) (3,009) (28,904)

Impairment loss recognised 

  in profit or loss – – – – – 3,223 – – 3,223

Exchange realignment – – 655 10 717 1,901 599 144 4,026

At 31 December 2012 1,384 4,789 99,469 91 131,413 339,521 132,668 23,077 732,412

Provided for the year 105 278 14,883 – 10,327 41,878 12,278 2,494 82,243

Eliminated on disposals – – – – (27,742) (16,493) (1,141) (1,546) (46,922)

Impairment loss (reversal of 

  impairment loss) recognised 

  in profit or loss – – – – 238 253 26 (57) 460

Exchange realignment – – 3,567 49 3,083 9,301 3,409 488 19,897

At 31 December 2013 1,489 5,067 117,919 140 117,319 374,460 147,240 24,456 788,090

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 2013 3,569 8,819 529,613 6,181 27,269 207,991 50,409 6,756 840,607

At 31 December 2012 3,674 9,097 510,965 5,070 28,650 223,964 47,573 7,537 836,530
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15.	P ROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Medium-term leases:

  Land and buildings in Hong Kong 12,388 12,771

  Buildings outside Hong Kong 529,613 510,965

542,001 523,736

The above items of property, plant and equipment other than construction in progress are depreciated on a 

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Land and buildings 2% to 5% or over remaining lease term if shorter

Leasehold improvements The shorter of lease terms and 5 years

Plant and equipment 9% to 20%

Furniture and fixtures 9% to 25%

Motor vehicles 15% to 25%

The carrying value of the motor vehicles includes an amount of HK$354,000 (2012: HK$468,000) in respect 

of assets held under finance leases.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the directors conducted a review of the Group’s manufacturing 

assets and determined that a number of assets included in plant and equipment were fully impaired due to 

technical obsolescence. Accordingly, an impairment loss of HK$3,223,000 had been recognised.

16.	P REPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise:

Medium-term leasehold land outside Hong Kong 135,249 134,442

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Non-current asset 131,776 131,964

Current asset 3,473 2,478

135,249 134,442
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17.	INVEST MENT PROPERTIES

Completed 

investment 

properties

Investment 

properties 

under/held for 

development Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FAIR VALUE

At 1 January 2012 512,295 – 512,295

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary (note 41) 44,676 – 44,676

Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss  

(included in other gains and losses) – unrealised 105,593 – 105,593

Exchange realignment 3,012 – 3,012
   

At 31 December 2012 665,576 – 665,576

Addition 2,018 120,303 122,321

Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss  

(included in other gains and losses) – unrealised 151,490 6,955 158,445

Exchange realignment 12,972 89 13,061
   

At 31 December 2013 832,056 127,347 959,403
   

The carrying values of investment properties shown above comprise:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Land and buildings in Hong Kong

  – under medium-term lease 412,000 261,000

Land and buildings outside Hong Kong

  – under medium-term lease 379,513 259,123

  – under long leases 167,890 145,453

959,403 665,576

All of the Group’s completed investment properties are held under operating leases to earn rentals or for 

capital appreciation purposes and measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for 

as investment properties.

At 31 December 2013, included in investment properties under/held for development of HK$109,559,000 

(2012: nil) are located in the PRC and the Group is in the process of obtaining the land use right certificate.
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17.	INVEST MENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December 2013 and 2012 have been arrived at on 

the basis of a valuation carried out by Centaline Surveyors Limited, 新昌信安達資產評估有限公司 and 杭州
蕭審資產評估有限公司, which are independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group. 

Centaline Surveyors Limited are members of the Institute of Valuers and 新昌信安達資產評估有限公司 and 杭
州蕭審資產評估有限公司 are certified public valuers in the PRC.

For the completed investment properties, the valuations were arrived at by reference to market evidence of 

transaction prices for similar properties in similar locations and conditions and on the basis of capitalisation 

of net income with due allowance for the reversionary income and redevelopment potential. The net income 

is the market rentals of all lettable units of the properties and discounted at the market yield expected by 

investors for this type of properties. The market rentals are assessed by reference to the rentals achieved in 

the lettable units of the properties as well as other lettings of similar properties in the neighbourhood. The 

discount rate is determined by reference to the yields derived from analysing the sales transactions of similar 

properties in the relevant locations and adjusted to take into account the market expectation from property 

investors to reflect factors specific to the Group’s investment properties.

For the investment properties under/held for development, for which the management has yet to complete 

and obtain approval for the building development plan, valuation is arrived at by making reference to 

comparable market sale and purchase transactions of vacant land.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used. In estimating the fair value of the completed 

properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. 

In estimating the fair value of investment properties under/held for development, management has taken into 

account the highest and best use of the properties from the perspective of market participants, taking into 

account the future development potential of the investment properties.

The Group’s investment properties are categorised into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. At the end of each 

reporting period, the chief financial officer (“CFO”) works closely with the independent qualified professional 

valuers to establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to be used in determining 

the fair value of the investment properties. Discussion of valuation processes and results are held between 

CFO and the directors of the Company at least twice a year.
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17.	INVEST MENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values for investment 

properties and unobservable inputs used in the valuation models.

Description Fair value
Valuation 
techniques Unobservable inputs Significant inputs

Relationship of inputs 
to fair value

HK$’000

As at 31 December 2013

Office premises
  – Hong Kong 412,000 Comparison 

approach
Market price per square 

feet
HK$5,100 per square 

feet in average and 
adjusting for age, 
location, condition 
and surrounding 
facilities of the 
properties

The higher the market 
price, the higher 
the fair value.

  – PRC 150,102 Income 
capitalisation 
approach

(i) Capitalisation rate 
taking into account 
the capitalisation 
of rental income 
potential and nature 
of property

5% The higher the 
capitalisation rate, 
the lower the fair 
value.

(ii) Monthly market rent per 
square meter

RMB117 per month 
per square meter in 
average

The higher the market 
rent, the higher the 
fair value.

Retail premises in the PRC 269,954 Income 
capitalisation 
approach

(i) Capitalisation rate 
taking into account 
the capitalisation 
of rental income 
potential and nature 
of property

5.3% The higher the 
capitalisation rate, 
the lower the fair 
value.

(ii) Monthly market rent per 
square meter

RMB292 per month 
per square meter in 
average

The higher the market 
rent, the higher the 
fair value.

Investment properties 
under/held for 
development in the PRC

  – Xinchang 17,788 Comparison 
approach

Market price per square 
meter

RMB10,590 per 
square meter 
and adjusting for 
location, condition 
and surrounding 
facilities of the 
properties

The higher the market 
price, the higher 
the the fair value

  – Tonglu 109,559 Comparison 
approach

Market price per square 
meter

RMB1,365 per 
square meter 
and adjusting for 
location, condition 
and surrounding 
facilities of the 
properties

The higher the market 
price, the higher 
the the fair value

959,403
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18.	INVEST MENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of unlisted investments in joint ventures 9,982 9,982

Share of post-acquisition profits 4,813 4,763

Exchange realignment 5,465 4,798

20,260 19,543

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Group had interests in the following joint ventures:

Name

Form of 

business 

structure

Place of 

registration 

and 

operations

Percentage of Principal 

activitiesOwnership interest Voting power Profit sharing

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

% % % % % %

Hangzhou Dalifu Silk Finishing  

Co., Ltd.*

Incorporated PRC 51 51 50 50 51 51 Dyeing, 

printing and 

sandwashing 

of fabric

Suzhou High Fashion Garment Co., 

Ltd. (“Suzhou High Fashion”) * 

(Note)

Incorporated PRC 51 51 60 60 51 51 Garment 

manufacturing

The Silk Passion Company Limited 

(“Silk Passion”) **  

(Note)

Incorporated Hong Kong 51 51 60 60 51 51 Trading, 

marketing and 

promoting silk 

products

Flaming China Limited Incorporated Hong Kong 50 50 50 50 50 50 Inactive

*	 These joint ventures provide subcontracting services to the Group during both years.

**	 This joint venture aims to enter into the fashion market in France.

Note:	 The Group holds 51% of the registered capital and 60% voting power of Suzhou High Fashion and Silk Passion. 

However, under the terms of memorandum and articles of association of Suzhou High Fashion and joint venture 

agreement of Silk Passion, major decisions about the relevant activities must require unanimous consent by the 

Group and the other shareholder. Therefore, Suzhou High Fashion and Silk Passion are classified as joint ventures 

of the Group.
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18.	INVEST MENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)
In the opinion of the directors, these joint ventures are not individually material to the Group for both years 

and therefore no separate disclosure on summarised financial information of these joint ventures is presented. 

The aggregate financial information of all individually immaterial joint ventures which are accounted for using 

the equity method is set out below:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 46,471 48,916

Non-current assets 15,643 15,613

Current liabilities 22,388 26,208

Income recognised in profit or loss 56,393 47,395

Expenses recognised in profit or loss 56,295 50,380

Group’s share of profits (losses) of joint ventures for the year 50 (1,522)

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of loss of certain joint ventures. The amount of 

unrecognised share of results of joint ventures is as follows:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unrecognised share of losses of joint ventures for the year 1,732 4,084

Accumulated unrecognised share of losses of these joint ventures 7,884 6,152

At the end of both reporting periods, the Group has no commitment to fund the losses in relation to its 

investments in joint ventures.
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19.	DEP OSIT PLACED AND PREPAYMENT OF PREMIUM FOR A LIFE 

INSURANCE
During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group entered into a life insurance policy with an insurance 

company to insure an executive director. Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is High Fashion 

Garments Management Limited (“HFGML”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and the total 

insured sum is approximately US$10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$77,500,000). HFGML paid a gross premium 

of US$3,582,000 (equivalent to HK$27,763,000), including a premium charge at inception of the policy 

amounting to US$214,941 (equivalent to HK$1,666,000). HFGML may request a partial surrender or full 

surrender of the policy at any time and receive cash back based on the cash value of the policy at the date of 

withdrawal, which is determined by the gross premium paid plus accumulated guaranteed interest earned and 

minus insurance premium charged at inception. In addition, if withdrawal is made between the 1st to 15th 

policy year, there is a specified surrender charge. At the inception date, the gross premium was separated 

into deposit placed and prepayment of life insurance premium. The prepayment of life insurance premium is 

amortised to profit or loss over the insured period and the deposit placed is carried at amortised cost using 

the effective interest method. The insurance company will pay HFGML a guaranteed interest rate of 5.2% 

per annum for the first year, followed by minimum guaranteed interest rate of 3% per annum for the following 

years.

The effective interest rate for the deposit placed on initial recognition is 4.61% per annum, which was 

determined by discounting the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the policy of 15 

years, excluding the financial effect of surrender charge. At 31 December 2013, the expected life of the policy 

remained unchanged from the initial recognition and the directors considered that the financial impact of the 

option to terminate the policy was insignificant.
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20.	DE RIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Cash flow hedges

  – Foreign exchange forward contracts 154,269 9,303

  – Interest rate swaps 112 22

154,381 9,325

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting)

  – Dual currency forward contract – 9,099

  – Knock out forward contract 817 –

  – Capped forward contracts 454 8,757

1,271 17,856

155,652 27,181

Financial liabilities

Cash flow hedges

  – Foreign exchange forward contracts – 8,295

  – Interest rate swaps 754 407

754 8,702

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting)

  – Dual currency interest rate swap 6,682 10,035

  – Capped forward contracts 808 2,910

7,490 12,945

8,244 21,647

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

  Non-current assets 67,288 5,830

  Current assets 88,364 21,351

155,652 27,181

  Non-current liabilities 5,750 11,082

  Current liabilities 2,494 10,565

8,244 21,647
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20.	DE RIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Cash flow hedges

Foreign exchange forward contracts
The Group designated foreign exchange forward contracts as highly effective hedging instruments in order 

to manage the Group’s foreign currency exposure in relation to foreign currency highly probable forecast 

sales to end customers denominated in United States Dollars (“US$”) by entering into foreign exchange 

forward contracts to sell US$ for RMB. Management considers the hedges from the Group’s perspective are 

effectively hedging its sales to end customers.

In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2012, the Company required its PRC subsidiaries (of which 

the functional currency is RMB) to use foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge its foreign currency 

exposure on intragroup highly probable forecast sales in HK$ to group entities of which the sales to end 

customers were denominated in US$. Management considered the hedges made by the PRC subsidiaries 

were highly effective and at the Group level, the hedges were effectively hedging its cost of sales which were 

mainly denominated in RMB affected by the movements of RMB relative to the sales to end customers, which 

were mainly denominated in US$.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts with an 

aggregate notional amount of US$394 million (2012: US$384 million) that requires the Group to sell US$ for 

RMB at exchange rates ranging from RMB6.407 to RMB6.442 (2012: RMB6.251 to RMB6.442) for US$1 with 

maturity periods up to 24 months (2012: 24 months) from the end of the respective reporting period. The 

terms of the foreign exchange contracts have been negotiated based on the estimation of the highly probable 

forecast sales.

As at 31 December 2013, the cumulative net fair value gain of approximately HK$154,269,000 (2012: 

HK$1,008,000) recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve is expected 

to be released to the profit or loss at various dates from January 2014 to December 2015 (2012: January 

2013 to December 2014), the period in which the forecast sales are expected to take place. Included in the 

cumulated net fair value gain was HK$66,728,000 (2012: HK$5,235,000) that is expected to be reclassified 

to profit or loss in more than twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

During the year, the effective portion of cash flow hedges on foreign currency forward contracts amounting to 

HK$30,109,000 (2012: HK$36,948,000) is reclassified from other comprehensive income upon occurrence of 

the sales to end customers which affected the profit or loss.
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20.	DE RIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Cash flow hedges (Cont’d)

Interest rate swaps
The Group used interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to volatility in interest payments relating to 

certain floating rate bank borrowings. The floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps locked the interest rates 

ranging from 1.95% to 3.06% (2012: 2.03% to 3.07%) per annum. The interest rate swaps match the major 

terms of the hedged underlying bank borrowings such that management considered that the interest rate 

swaps are highly effective hedging instruments.

As at 31 December 2013, the fair value loss of HK$642,000 (2012: HK$385,000) of interest rate swap 

contracts has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve, and 

are expected to be released to profit or loss at various dates during the lives of the swaps when the hedged 

interest expenses are recognised and impacts profit or loss. The aggregate notional amount of interest rate 

swap contracts are HK$1,450,000,000 (2012: HK$1,188,000,000) and will mature within one year after the 

end of the reporting period.

The effective portion of cash flow hedges on interest rate swaps amounting to HK$1,414,000 (2012: 

HK$1,325,000) is reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss and included in finance costs 

during the year.

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting)

Dual currency interest rate swap
The amount represents fair value of a dual currency interest rate swap. In accordance with the agreement, the 

Group shall pay fixed interest of 1% per annum on the notional amount of HK$70 million on 20 January 2014 

and 2.1% per annum annually from 20 January 2014 to 20 January 2019. In return, the Group shall receive 

floating interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) on the notional amount of HK$70 million 

quarterly from 20 April 2012 to 20 January 2019. In addition, the Group shall pay or receive interest on the 

notional amount of US$9,014,000 annually based on the formula set out in the agreement, while the interest 

rate that the Group may be required to pay is capped as 2% per annum. The fair value gain of HK$3,353,000 

(2012: fair value loss of HK$10,035,000) is recognised in profit or loss.
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20.	DE RIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Other derivatives (not under hedge accounting) (Cont’d)

Capped forward contracts
The amount represents fair value of capped forward contracts with aggregate notional amount of US$96 

million (2012: US$168 million). The Group shall pay if the spot rate of RMB vs US$ is above the upper 

contract rate or receive if the spot rate of RMB vs US$ is below the lower contract rate specified in the 

relevant agreements on the settlement date. Where the spot rate is above the upper contract rate on the 

settlement date, the Group shall pay the amount multiplied by two to respective banks. Where the spot rate 

falls within the upper and lower contract rates, no settlement will be required. The aforesaid upper and lower 

contract rates in the relevant agreements are ranging from RMB6.27 to RMB6.48 vs US$1 and RMB6.206 

to RMB6.44 vs US$1 (2012: RMB6.375 to RMB6.585 vs US$1 and RMB6.31 to RMB6.4725 vs US$1) 

respectively. The contracts will be settled in various dates from January 2014 to December 2015 (2012: 

January 2013 to June 2015).

The fair value gain, including the gain on those contracts entered into and settled during the year, of 

HK$8,582,000 (2012: HK$35,103,000) is recognised in profit or loss.

Knock out forward contract
The amount represents the fair value of a knock out non-deliverable forward contract of US$24 million to sell 

US$1 million, on a monthly interval from January 2014 to December 2015, for RMB at the contracted rate of 

US$1 for RMB6.2 where the spot rate on the settlement date is below the contracted rate. Where the spot 

rate is above the contracted rate, the Group has to sell double the amount of US$ for RMB at the contracted 

rate. The contract will be terminated when the cumulated spot rate at each settlement date exceeds the 

contracted forward rate by a specific amount set out in the agreement.

The fair value gain, including the gain on those contracts entered into and settled during the year, of 

HK$5,315,000 (2012: fair value loss of HK$408,000) is recognised in profit or loss.

Dual currency forward contract
At 31 December 2012, the amount represented fair value of dual currency forward contract that the Group 

should exchange RMB and US$ at exchange rate at RMB6.58 for US$1 with an aggregated notional amount 

of US$6 million settled monthly from January 2013 to December 2013. The contract would be settled on a 

net basis in either HK$ or US$ dependent on the spot rate on maturity date or at banks’ discretions. The fair 

value gain, including the gain on those contracts entered into and settled during the year, of HK$1,239,000 

(2012: HK$14,141,000) is recognised in profit or loss.

The above derivatives are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Their fair values are 

determined based on the valuation carried out by financial institutions, which are measured using the present 

value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived from 

quoted interest rates and quoted forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. Details are set 

out in note 38.
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21.	INVENT ORIES

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 173,126 168,273

Work in progress 158,075 115,617

Finished goods 171,767 143,412

502,968 427,302

Properties under development 34,454 –

537,422 427,302

22.	T RADE RECEIVABLES

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 455,889 444,679

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (29,711) (27,787)

426,178 416,892

The credit terms granted by the Group to its customers normally range from 30 days to 90 days.

The aged analysis of the Group’s trade receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts presented based on 

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the respective revenue recognition 

dates.

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 90 days 391,593 373,134

91 to 180 days 20,642 33,582

181 to 360 days 11,940 9,589

Over 360 days 2,003 587

426,178 416,892

The Group has policy of making allowance for bad and doubtful debts which is based on the evaluation of 

collectability and age of accounts and on management’s judgement including credit worthiness and past 

collection history of each customer. Before accepting any new customer, the Group assess the potential 

customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Credit limits attributed to customers are 

reviewed twice a year.
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22.	T RADE RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)
At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$328,033,000 

(2012: HK$288,007,000) which are neither past due nor impaired for which management consider these 

amounts are of good credit quality.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of 

HK$98,145,000 (2012: HK$128,885,000) which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which the 

Group has not provided for impairment loss. The directors of the Company believe that there is no further 

provision required in excess of the allowance of doubtful debts as at the end of the reporting period. The 

average age of these receivables is 92 days (2012: 77 days).

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 90 days 69,924 99,200

91 – 180 days 14,064 19,529

181 – 360 days 12,054 9,529

Over 360 days 2,103 627

Total 98,145 128,885

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of the year 27,787 28,870

Exchange adjustment 214 30

Impairment losses recognised on receivables (Note i) 5,637 5,529

Amounts written off as uncollectible (Note ii) (2,043) (3,527)

Amounts recovered during the year (1,884) (3,115)

Balance at end of the year 29,711 27,787

Notes:

(i)	 The impairment losses recognised on receivables are individual trade receivables that are past due at the end of the 

reporting date and the Group believes that those amounts are unlikely to be recoverable based on past collection 

history and credit worthiness of each customer. The Group does not have any collateral over these balances.

(ii)	 The amounts written off as uncollectible are individually impaired trade receivable as the debtors are in severe 

financial difficulties.
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23.	 BILLS RECEIVABLE
At the end of the reporting period, bills receivable of HK$41,855,000 (2012: HK$34,412,000) are aged within 

180 days (2012: 180 days). Included in the bills receivable is discounted bills with recourse of HK$31,595,000 

(2012: HK$29,518,000), their corresponding financial liabilities are included in bank borrowings disclosed in 

note 32. Details relating to transfer to financial assets are set out in note 40.

24.	DEP OSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
At 31 December 2012, included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables were loan receivables of 

RMB18,000,000 (equivalent to HK$22,360,000) and RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$24,845,000), which 

carried fixed interest at 6.6% and 12%, respectively, to two independent third parties through banks in the 

PRC. The loan receivables were repaid in October 2013 and January 2013, respectively.

In addition, at 31 December 2012, included in deposits, prepayments and other receivables was sales 

proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment to an independent third party of HK$8,695,000. The 

amount was received in September 2013.

25.	 AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES
The amounts due from joint ventures are non-trade, unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

26.	ST RUCTURED DEPOSITS
The structured deposits are placed with banks in the PRC and contain embedded derivatives, the returns of 

which are determined by reference to the change in certain exchange rates or interest rates quoted in the 

market. The structured deposits are designated as FVTPL at initial recognition.

Major terms of the structured deposits at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

At 31 December 2013:

Principal amount Maturity Annual coupon rate Notes

(Note a)

RMB338,659,000 March – November 2014 from 1.8% to 5% (b)

RMB393,000,000 January – August 2014 from 2.4% to 4.5% (c)

RMB201,000,000 January – December 2014 from 3.1% to 4.2% (d)

RMB164,000,000 October – December 2014 from 3.3% to 3.5% (e)
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26.	ST RUCTURED DEPOSITS (Cont’d)
At 31 December 2012:

Principal amount Maturity Annual coupon rate Notes

(Note a)

RMB246,000,000 April – August 2013 from 3.3% to 5.5% (b)

RMB393,000,000 January – August 2013 from 2.4% to 5.5% (c)

RMB40,000,000 May 2013 from 3.5% to 4.6% (d)

Notes:

(a)	 All the deposits are subject to the option for early termination by issuing banks.

(b)	 The annual coupon rate is dependent on whether the spot rate for conversion of European dollar for US$ as 

prevailing in the international foreign exchange market falls within ranges as specified in the relevant agreements 

during the period from inception date to maturity date of the relevant agreements.

(c)	 The annual coupon rate is dependent on whether the spot rate for conversion of Australian dollar for US$ as 

prevailing in the international foreign exchange market falls within ranges as specified in the relevant agreements 

during the period from inception date to maturity date of the relevant agreements.

(d)	 The annual coupon rate is dependent on whether the spot rate for conversion of US$ for HK$ as prevailing in the 

international foreign exchange market falls within ranges as specified in the relevant agreements during the period 

from inception date to maturity date of the relevant agreements.

(e)	 The annual coupon rate is dependent on whether USD1 month London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) falls within 

0% to 3% during the period from inception date to maturity date of the relevant agreements.

At the end of the reporting period, the structured deposits are stated at fair values based on valuation 

provided by respective counterparties. The fair values are calculated using discounted cash flow analyses 

based on the applicable yield curves of relevant interest rates and exchange rates. Details are set out in note 

38.

27.	S HORT-TERM DEPOSITS
The short-term deposits carry fixed interest at rates ranging from 3.08% to 4.4% (2012: 3.05% to 5%) per 

annum.

Short-term deposits are deposits with banks with more than three months to maturity when acquired. Short-

term deposits are matured within 12 months from the end of the reporting period and are therefore classified 

as current assets.
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28.	 BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.001% to 3.3% (2012: 0.001% to 4.0%) per 

annum.

Bank balances are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired.

29.	T RADE PAYABLES AND BILLS PAYABLE
The following is an aged analysis of the trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the 

reporting period:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 90 days 137,252 113,443

91 to 180 days 11,300 10,489

181 to 360 days 2,875 3,644

Over 360 days 5,569 4,318

156,996 131,894

Accrued purchases 199,024 180,916

356,020 312,810

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The Group has financial risk management 

policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.

All bills payable are aged within 90 days.

30.	 AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE
The amount due to Sherman-Theme (China) Limited, an associate of the Group, is unsecured, interest-free 

and is repayable on demand.

In the opinion of the directors, the associate is not material to the Group for both years and therefore no 

further information is disclosed for the associate.
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31.	 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

Minimum 

lease payments

Present value of 

minimum lease payments

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts payable under finance

  leases:

  Within one year 98 186 86 162

  In the second year 81 96 78 88

  In the third to fifth year inclusive – 80 – 73

179 362 164 323

Less: Future finance charges (15) (39) – –

Present value of lease obligations 164 323 164 323

Less: �Amount due for settlement  

   within twelve months  

   (shown under current liabilities) (86) (162)

Amount due for settlement after  

  twelve months (shown under  

  non-current liabilities) 78 161

The Group leases certain of its motor vehicles under finance lease. The average lease term is five (2012: five) 

years. The average effective borrowing rate is 8.5% (2012: 8.5%) per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the 

contract date.

All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental 

payments.

The Group’s obligation under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets.
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32.	 BANK BORROWINGS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank borrowings (including discounted bills with full recourse) 2,535,709 1,846,045

Analysed as:

  Secured 45,506 52,618

  Unsecured 2,490,203 1,793,427

2,535,709 1,846,045

Carrying amount repayable*:

Within one year 2,048,010 1,716,445

More than one year, but not exceeding two years 176,699 34,600

More than two years, but not exceeding five years 311,000 35,000

Over five years – 60,000

2,535,709 1,846,045

Less: Amount due within one year shown under current liabilities** (2,417,710) (1,846,045)

Amount shown under non-current liabilities 117,999 –

*	 The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

**	 Included in HK$2,417,710,000 (2012: HK$1,846,045,000) is HK$369,700,000 (2012: HK$129,600,000) bank 

borrowings that are not repayable within one year pursuant to scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan 

agreements but contain a repayment on demand clause.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are same as the contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank 
borrowings and bank overdrafts are as follows:

2013 2012

Effective interest rate:

  Fixed-rate bank borrowings 1.21% – 3.45% 1.06% – 2.05%

  Variable-rate bank borrowings 1.17% – 2.96% 1.18% – 3.31%

The Group undertakes to the banks that structured deposits of HK$1,442,333,000 (2012: HK$877,634,000) 
and short-term deposits of HK$231,076,000 (2012: HK$219,864,000) have to be maintained with the 
respective banks during the life of certain bank borrowings.

During the year, the Group discounted bil ls receivable with recourse in aggregated amounts of 
HK$379,421,000 (2012: HK$377,507,000) to banks for short term financing. As at 31 December 2013, 
the associated borrowings amount to HK$31,595,000 (2012: HK$29,518,000). The relevant cash flows of 
these borrowings are presented as operating cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows as the 
management considers the cash flows are, in substance, the receipts from trade customers.
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33.	DE FERRED TAXATION
The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the 

current and prior years:

Deferred tax assets

Unrealised 

profit arising 

on intra-group 

transactions

Bad and 

doubtful 

debts

Allowance 

on obsolete 

inventories

Impairment 

loss on 

property, 

plant and 

equipment

Government 

grant 

received in 

respect of 

properties Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)

At 1 January 2012 462 2,573 7,337 17,919 817 – 29,108

Credit to profit or loss 168 936 724 2,115 – – 3,943

Exchange realignment – 11 6 124 – – 141

At 31 December 2012 630 3,520 8,067 20,158 817 – 33,192

Credit (charge) to profit or loss 420 1,485 1,771 (6,230) 7,406 581 5,433

Exchange realignment – 90 319 566 121 7 1,103

At 31 December 2013 1,050 5,095 10,157 14,494 8,344 588 39,728
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33.	DE FERRED TAXATION (Cont’d)

Deferred tax liabilities

Accelerated 

tax 

depreciation

Revaluation 

of investment 

properties

Revaluation of 

properties and 

prepaid lease 

payments 

transferred to 

investment 

properties

Withholding 

tax in 

respect of 

undistributed 

earnings 

of PRC 

subsidiaries

Interest 

receivables

Fair value 

gain on 

derivative 

instruments Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 1,212 50,392 33,533 16,375 1,799 2,513 105,824

Charge to profit or loss – 20,396 – 6,000 2,866 – 29,262

Reversal upon payment of 

withholding tax – – – (6,086) – – (6,086)

Reversal upon reclassification 

to profit or loss – – – – – (2,513) (2,513)

Exchange realignment – 220 135 – – – 355

At 31 December 2012 1,212 71,008 33,668 16,289 4,665 – 126,842

Charge to profit or loss – 14,192 – 12,000 1,627 – 27,819

Charge to other comprehensive 

income – – – – – 30,256 30,256

Reversal upon reclassification 

to profit or loss – – – – – (4,804) (4,804)

Exchange realignment – 1,312 573 – – – 1,885

At 31 December 2013 1,212 86,512 34,241 28,289 6,292 25,452 181,998

Note:	 Being deferred tax recognised in respect of the government grant of HK$15,713,000 (2012: HK$14,227,000) 

received in respect of acquisition of properties in 2013 (2012: 2011). The government grant was recognised as a 

deduction from the carrying amounts of respective properties and recognised over the useful lives.

The ultimate realisation of these deferred tax assets depend principally on certain subsidiaries in the PRC 

achieving profitability and generating sufficient taxable profits to utilise the underlying deferred tax assets. 

Based on the taxable profit and loss projections of these businesses, it is more probable that the Group 

can fully utilise the deferred tax assets recognised. It may be necessary for some or all of these deferred 

tax assets be reduced and charged to profit or loss if there is a significant adverse change in the projected 

performance and projected taxable profit of the business.

Under the PRC law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by 

subsidiaries in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards. Withholding tax is estimated at 10% on undistributed 

earnings of respective PRC subsidiaries for both years.
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33.	DE FERRED TAXATION (Cont’d)
The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$461,216,000 (2012: HK$524,211,000), tax 

losses arising in overseas of HK$57,601,000 (2012: HK$37,999,000), and allowance on obsolete inventories 

of HK$3,308,000 (2012: HK$14,618,000) for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which 

the losses arose. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses and the allowance 

on obsolete inventories due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses 

are losses of HK$35,969,000 (2012: HK$27,913,000) that will expire in 2028 to 2033. Other tax losses may 

be carried forward indefinitely.

34.	P ROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS

HK$’000

At 1 January 2012 3,375

Amount utilised during the year (29)

Amount provided during the year 51

At 31 December 2012 3,397

Amount provided during the year 34

At 31 December 2013 3,431

The Group provides for the probable future long service payments expected to be made to employees 

under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The provision represents management’s best estimate of the 

probable future payments which have been earned by the employees from their service to the Group up to 

the end of the reporting period.

35.	S HARE CAPITAL

Number 

of shares Amount

‘000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

Authorised:

  At 1 January 2012, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 1,000,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid:

  At 1 January 2012 300,724 30,072

  Shares repurchased and cancelled (Note) (3,510) (351)

  At 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 297,214 29,721

All the issued shares rank pari passu in all respects including all rights as to dividends, voting and return of 

capital.
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35.	S HARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)
Note:	 The Company repurchased its own shares during the year ended 31 December 2012 through the Stock Exchange 

as follows:

Month of repurchase

No. of 

ordinary shares 

of HK$0.10 each

Price per share

Aggregate 

consideration 

paidLowest Highest

‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$’000

January 2012 3,510 2.90 2.90 10,222

The above shares were cancelled upon repurchase. None of the Company’s subsidiaries repurchased, sold or 

redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during both years.

36.	S HARE OPTION SCHEME
The purposes of the share option scheme adopted on 30 May 2012 (the “New Scheme”) are to (a) provide 

alternative recognition to the contributions or services of employees, executives and non-executive directors; 

(b) strengthen the relationship between the Group and its employees and executives; (c) attract and retain 

key and important employees and executives; and (d) motivate employees and executives to strive for future 

development and expansion of the Group. Eligible participants of the New Scheme include the directors and 

employees of the Group. Unless otherwise terminated or amended, the New Scheme will remain in force for 

10 years ending 29 May 2022.

Pursuant to the New Scheme, the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all 

outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Scheme and any other schemes shall not 

exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time. The total number of shares issued 

and to be issued upon exercise of options granted in accordance with the New Scheme to each eligible 

participant in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. The offer of a 

grant of share option may be accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer with no consideration being 

payable by the grantee. The exercisable period of the share options granted is determinable by the directors, 

but no later than 10 years from the date of the offer. The subscription price for the shares in respect of which 

options are granted is determinable by directors, but must be at least the highest of (1) the closing price 

of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of 

the option; (2) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 

quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (3) 

the par value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholder’s meeting.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the New Scheme during the year nor 

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period.
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37.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the bank borrowings disclosed in note 32, 

net of cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share 

capital, reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this review, 

the directors consider the cost of capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through the 

payment of dividends, the share buy-backs, the issue of new shares as well as the issue of new debt or the 

redemption of existing debt.

38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial instruments

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

  Derivative financial instruments 155,652 27,181

  Financial assets at FVTPL 1,442,333 877,634

  Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 1,776,140 1,795,368

  Available-for-sale investments 675 675

Financial liabilities

  Derivative financial instruments 8,244 21,647

  Amortised cost 2,996,238 2,284,236
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables, 

derivative financial instruments, amounts due from joint ventures, structured deposits, short-term deposits, 

bank balances and cash, trade and bills payables, other payables and bank borrowings. Details of the 

financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments 

include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how 

to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure 

appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk
Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency sales and purchases. The carrying amounts 

of major foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities (including trade and bills 

receivables, deposits and other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and bills payables, other 

payables, bank borrowings and foreign currency denominated intra group balances) which expose the Group 

for foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ against RMB 35,000 70,000 643 207

US$ against RMB 903,491 443,855 521,017 337,570

The Group has entered into certain foreign exchange forward contracts as set out in note 20 to hedge 

against the potential currency exposure arising on the forecast intragroup sales and forecast sales to external 

parties. It is the Group’s policy to negotiate the terms of the foreign exchange forward contracts to match the 

terms of the hedged item to maximise hedge effectiveness. In addition, the Group is also exposed to foreign 

currency risks arising from dual currency forward contract, knock out forward contract and capped forward 

contracts, which are not subject to cash flow hedges at the end of the reporting period.

The Group also entered into certain structured deposits as set out in note 26, of which the coupon rate is 

dependent on exchange rate of US$, Australian dollar and European dollar. The directors of the Company 

considered currency risk arising from structured deposits is insignificant.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

Currency risk (Cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2012: 5%) strengthening in the group entities’ 

functional currency against the relevant foreign currencies except for the Group’s exposure in US$ relative 

to HK$ since directors of the Company consider HK$ is pegged to US$ and the exposure related to US$ 

is insignificant. 5% (2012: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used which represents management’s assessment of 

the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding 

foreign currency denominated monetary items, foreign exchange forward contracts, dual currency forward 

contracts, knock out forward contract and capped forward contracts, and adjusts their translation at the end 

of the reporting period for a 5% (2012: 5%) change in foreign currency rates and forward exchange rates. A 

positive/negative number below indicates an increase/decrease in post-tax profit for the year and hedging 

reserve.

Impact on HK$ Impact on US$

2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit or loss(i) 1,434 2,914 27,031 24,823

Hedging reserve(ii) – – 129,031 126,566

(i)	 This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on foreign currencies denominated monetary items, dual 

currency forward contract, knock out forward contract and capped forward contracts, which are not subject to 

cash flow hedges at the end of the reporting period.

(ii)	 This is a result of changes in fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts designated as cash flow hedges in 

relation to the Group’s foreign currency forecast sales.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent currency risk as the 

exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate bank deposits, loan receivables 

and fixed rate bank borrowings. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk relating to the 

variable rate bank borrowings, structured deposits and derivative financial instruments including receive-

floating and pay-fixed interest rate swaps, which mainly concentrated on fluctuation of HIBOR and LIBOR. 

Management monitors interest rate exposure and consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should 

the need arise. The critical terms of these interest rate swaps are similar to those of hedged borrowings. 

These interest rate swaps are designated as effective hedging instruments and hedge accounting is used (see 

note 20 for details).

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both 

derivatives and non-derivative instruments. The analysis include the variable rate bank borrowings which 

assumes borrowings outstanding balances at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole 

year, and interest rate swaps. A 50 basis point (2012: 50 basis point) increase or decrease is used when 

reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment 

of the reasonably possible change in interest rate. The sensitivity analysis below indicates 50 basis points 

(2012: 50 basis point) increase in interest rate. A negative number below indicates a decrease in post-tax 

profit.

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit or loss(i) (8,986) (7,514)

Hedging reserve(ii) 1,330 3,173

(i)	 This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate bank borrowings and dual 

currency interest swap not under hedge accounting outstanding at the end of the reporting period.

(ii)	 This is a result of changes in fair value of interest rates swaps designated as cash flow hedges in relation to the 

Group’s variable rate bank borrowings.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the interest rate risk as the exposure 

at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the exposure during the year.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Credit risk
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to 

perform an obligation by the counterparties arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised 

financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 

determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up 

action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each 

individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made 

for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is 

significantly reduced.

Other than concentration of credit risk on the major customers, loan receivables, structured deposits 

and liquid funds deposited with several banks and insurance company with high credit ratings, as well as 

counterparties with whom the Group enters into derivative financial instruments, the Group has no significant 

concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers, spread 

across geographical areas. In order to minimise the credit risk from the major customers, the term of payment 

of the major customers are under bank’s letter of credit. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the 

counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 

equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of 

fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance 

with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2013, the Group 

has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately HK$1,846 million (2012: HK$2,024 million).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. 

The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 

earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on 

demand clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to 

exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed 

repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, 

the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)
In addition, the following table details the Group’s liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments. 

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net cash outflows on derivative 

instruments that settle on a net basis, and the undiscounted gross (inflows) and outflows on those derivatives 

that require gross settlement. When the amount payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been 

determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of 

the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative financial instruments are prepared based 

on the contractual maturities as management consider that the contractual maturities are essential for an 

understanding of the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.

Liquidity tables

Weighted 

average 

interest rate

On demand 

or less than 

3 months

3 months 

to 1 year Over 1 year

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 

amount at 

31/12/2013

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2013

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade payables – 356,020 – – 356,020 356,020

Bills payable – 343 – – 343 343

Other payables – 103,413 – – 103,413 103,413

Amount due to an associate – 589 – – 589 589

Bank borrowings 2.44 2,264,906 153,309 121,039 2,539,254 2,535,709

Obligations under finance leases 8.5 98 81 – 179 164

2,725,369 153,390 121,039 2,999,798 2,996,238

Derivative – net settlement

Derivative financial instruments, other than 

foreign exchange forward contracts under 

cash flow hedges 546 1,948 5,750 8,244 8,244

Derivative – gross settlement

Foreign exchange forward contracts under 

cash flow hedges

  – inflow (394,488) (1,181,053) (1,632,228) (3,207,769) (3,207,769)

  – outflow 372,000 1,116,000 1,565,500 3,053,500 3,053,500

(22,488) (65,053) (66,728) (154,269) (154,269)
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Liquidity tables (Cont’d)

Weighted 

average 

interest rate

On demand 

or less than 

3 months

3 months 

to 1 year Over 1 year

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 

amount at 

31/12/2012

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2012

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade payables – 312,810 – – 312,810 312,810

Bills payable – 1,134 – – 1,134 1,134

Other payables – 123,143 – – 123,143 123,143

Amount due to an associate – 589 – – 589 589

Bank overdrafts 2.43 192 – – 192 192

Bank borrowings 2.43 1,846,045 – – 1,846,045 1,846,045

Obligations under finance leases 8.5 46 140 176 362 323

2,283,959 140 176 2,284,275 2,284,236

Derivative – net settlement

Derivative financial instruments, other than 

foreign exchange forward contracts under 

cash flow hedges 107 2,701 10,544 13,352 13,352

Derivative – gross settlement

Foreign exchange forward contracts under 

cash flow hedges

  – inflow (139,875) (1,343,898) (1,493,235) (2,977,008) (2,977,008)

  – outflow 139,500 1,348,500 1,488,000 2,976,000 2,976,000

(375) 4,602 (5,235) (1,008) (1,008)
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

Liquidity tables (Cont’d)
The table below follows the maturity analysis of bank borrowings based on agreed scheduled repayments set 

out in the loan agreements irrespective of whether the terms of the bank borrowings contain a repayment on 

demand clause. The amounts include interest payments computed using contractual rates. As a result, these 

amounts were greater than the amounts disclosed in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time band in 

the maturity analysis above. Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company 

do not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate 

repayment. The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled 

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

Weighted 

average 

interest rate

On demand 

or less than 

3 months

3 months 

to 1 year Over 1 year

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 

amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2013 2.44 1,878,152 182,451 512,696 2,573,299 2,535,709

31 December 2012 2.43 1,485,938 246,205 139,721 1,871,864 1,846,045

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is 

subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at 

the end of the reporting period.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair 

value on a recurring basis
The Group’s derivative financial instruments and structured deposits are measured at fair value at the end of 

each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets 

and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the 

level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based 

on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable. For valuation technique using 

under discounted cash flows, the discount rates used take into consideration the credit risk of the relevant 

counterparties of the Group, as appropriate.

Financial assets/

financial liabilities

Fair value as at

31 December 2013

Fair 

value

hierarchy

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

Foreign exchange 

  forward contracts 

  (designated for 

  hedging)

Assets – HK$154,269,000 Level 2 Valuation technique: Discounted 

  cash flow.

Key inputs: Forward exchange rate, 

  contracted exchange rate and 

  discount rate.

Capped forward 

  contracts

Asset – HK$454,000

Liabilities – HK$808,000

Level 2 Valuation techniques: Discounted 

  cash flow and option pricing model.

Key inputs: Forward exchange rates, 

  contracted exchange rates, discount 

  rates and volatility of exchange rate 

  of RMB vs US$.

Knock out forward 

  contract

Asset – HK$817,000 Level 2 Valuation techniques: Discounted 

  cash flow and option pricing model.

Key inputs: Forward exchange rate, 

  contracted exchange rate, discount 

  rates and volatility of exchange rate 

  of RMB vs US$.
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38.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Cont’d)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair 

value on a recurring basis (Cont’d)

Financial assets/

financial liabilities

Fair value as at 

31 December 2013

Fair 

value 

hierarchy

Valuation technique(s)

and key input(s)

Interest rate swaps 

  (designated for hedging)

Asset – HK$112,000

Liabilities – HK$754,000

Level 2 Valuation technique: Discounted 

  cash flow.

Key inputs: Forward interest rates, 

  contracted interest rates and 

  discount rate.

Dual currency interest 

  rate swap

Liability – HK$6,682,000 Level 2 Valuation technique: Discounted 

  cash flow and option pricing model.

Key inputs: Forward interest rates, 

  forward exchange rates, contracted 

  interest rates, discount rate and 

  HSBC Dynamic Term Premium Index 

  10 as published on Bloomberg 

  Screen and its volatility.

Structured deposits Assets – HK$1,442,333,000 Level 2 Valuation technique: Discounted 

  cash flow and option pricing model.

Key inputs: Forward interest rates, 

  forward exchange rates, contracted 

  interest rates, contracted exchange 

  rates and volatility of exchange rate.

There are no transfers between level 1 and 2 for both years.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 

amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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39.	 F INANCIAL ASSETS AND F INANCIAL L IABIL ITIES  SUBJECT TO 

ENFORCEABLE MASTER NETTING ARRANGEMENTS
The Group has entered into certain derivative transactions that are covered by the International Swaps 

and Derivatives Association Master Netting Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”) signed with various banks. 

These derivative instruments are not offset in the consolidated statement of financial position as the ISDA 

Agreements are in place with a right of set off only in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy so that 

the Group currently has no legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts.

Financial assets of the Group subject to ISDA Agreements by counterparty:

Carrying 

amounts of financial assets 

in the consolidated statement 

of financial position

Related amounts 

not set off in the 

consolidated 

statement of 

financial position 

– financial 

liabilities Net amount

 

Bank balances

Derivative 

financial 

instruments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2013

Bank A 2,484 67,288 (54) 69,718

Bank B 1,573 47,248 (7,161) 41,660

Bank C 93 9,161 (180) 9,074

Bank D 402 454 – 856

Bank E 334 16,407 (15) 16,726

Bank F 34,976 14,982 – 49,958

Bank G 96 112 – 208

Bank H 168 – (168) –

Total 40,126 155,652 (7,578) 188,200

At 31 December 2012

Bank A 5,330 12,499 (2,458) 15,371

Bank B 5,601 12,825 (14,448) 3,978

Bank C 189 1,237 (167) 1,259

Bank D 44 – (44) –

Bank E 9 – (9) –

Bank F 644 598 (1,242) –

Bank G 85 22 – 107

Total 11,902 27,181 (18,368) 20,715
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39.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES SUBJECT TO OFFSETTING 

ENFORCEABLE MASTER NETTING ARRANGEMENTS (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities of the Group subject to ISDA Agreements by counterparty:

Carrying amounts 

of financial 

liabilities 

presented as 

“Derivative 

financial 

instruments” in 

the consolidated 

statement of 

financial position

Related amounts 

not set off in the 

consolidated 

statement of 

financial position 

– financial assets Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2013

Bank A (54) 54 –

Bank B (7,161) 7,161 –

Bank C (180) 180 –

Bank E (15) 15 –

Bank H (834) 168 (666)

Total (8,244) 7,578 (666)

At 31 December 2012

Bank A (2,458) 2,458 –

Bank B (14,448) 14,448 –

Bank C (167) 167 –

Bank D (2,908) 44 (2,864)

Bank E (33) 9 (24)

Bank F (1,633) 1,242 (391)

Total (21,647) 18,368 (3,279)

The gross amounts of the recognised financial assets and financial liabilities disclosed in the above tables,  

which are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements, are measured as follows:

•	 Bank balances – amortised cost

•	 Derivatives financial instruments – fair value
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40.	T RANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The following were the Group’s bills receivables as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 that were transferred to 

banks by discounting bills receivable on a full recourse basis. If the bills receivable are not paid on maturity, 

the banks have rights to request the Group to pay the unsettled balance. As the Group has not transferred 

the significant risks and rewards relating to these bills receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying 

amount of the bills receivables and has recognised the cash received on the transfer as a secured borrowing 

(see note 32). These bills receivables are carried at amortised cost in the Group’s consolidated statement of 

financial position.

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount of bills receivables 31,595 29,518

Carrying amount of associated liabilities (31,595) (29,518)

41.	 ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
On 25 July 2012, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with a third party to acquire 100% 

equity interest of 新昌縣達利商業廣場有限公司 at an aggregate consideration of approximately RMB8,000,000 

(equivalents to HK$9,749,000). The acquisition is accounted for as acquisition of the assets and liabilities.

HK$’000

Net asset acquired:

  Investment properties 44,676

  Prepayments and other receivables 491

  Bank balances and cash 419

  Trade payables (4,755)

  Other payables and accruals (31,080)

  Tax payable (2)

Total consideration 9,749

Satisfied by:

  Cash consideration 9,749

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

  Cash consideration paid 9,749

  Bank balances and cash acquired (419)

9,330
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42.	P LEDGE OF ASSETS
At the end of the reporting period, in addition to the bills receivable discounted to banks as per note 40, the 
Group has pledged the following assets to secure credit facilities granted to the Group.

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 23,820 32,419

43.	 OPERATING LEASES
(a)	T he Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease arrangements with average lease 
term of one to two years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future 
minimum lease payments:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 27,274 23,142
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 88,630 71,819
Over five years 69,349 76,352

185,253 171,313

(b)	T he Group as lessee
The Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases which fall due as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 17,514 19,262
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 32,212 17,492
Over five years 2,984 3,826

52,710 40,580

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Group for certain of its office premises, 
rental shops and factories. Leases are negotiated for terms ranging from one to ten years and rentals 
are fixed over the lease terms. In addition to the fixed rentals which are disclosed above, pursuant to 
the terms of certain leasing agreements, the Group has to pay a rental based on certain percentage of 
the gross sales of the relevant shop.
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44.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, 

  plant and equipment contracted for but not provided for in the 

  consolidated financial statements 1,846 6,125

45.	 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees 

of the Group in Hong Kong. The Group follows the minimum contribution requirement of 5% of eligible 

employees’ relevant aggregated income with a cap of HK$1,000 per month before 1 June 2012 and revised 

to HK$1,250 per month thereafter. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the 

Group, in funds under the control of the trustees. The employees of the subsidiaries in the PRC are members 

of retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC government. The contributions are charged to the profit 

or loss as incurred. The relevant PRC subsidiaries are required to make contributions to the state retirement 

schemes in the PRC based on a certain percentage of the monthly salaries of their current employees to fund 

the benefits. The employees are entitled to retirement pension calculated with reference to their basic salaries 

on retirement and their length of service in accordance with the relevant government regulations. The PRC 

government is responsible for the pension liability to these retired staff.

46.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Apart from amounts due from joint ventures and amount due to an associate as set out in notes 25 and 30, 

respectively, the Group had the following transactions with related parties during the year:

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Purchases of raw materials and finished goods from joint ventures 20,432 13,446

Sales of raw materials and finished goods to joint ventures 3,098 4,415

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors, which are the key management personnel during the year, is set out in note 

9, which is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and 

market trends.
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47.	 RESTATEMENT OF COMPARATIVE FIGURES
During the year, management reassessed the presentation of the Group’s revenue arising from its operations. 

In view of the increase in the gross proceeds arising from sales of scrapped products and such sales are 

arising in the course of the Group’s ordinary activities, management considered that presenting the gross 

proceeds and the related costs as revenue and cost of sales, respectively, better reflect the economic 

substance of the transactions. Accordingly, other income from sales of scrapped products of HK$31,053,000 

(2012: HK$22,874,000) has been reclassified to revenue and cost of sales of HK$57,673,000 (2012: 

HK$48,756,000) and HK$26,620,000 (2012: HK$25,882,000), respectively.

48.	P ARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation 

or registration/

operations

Issued and fully 

paid share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of 

nominal value 

of issued capital/

registered capital 

held by the Company Principal activities

2013 2012

% %

Angel Star Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Ordinary 100 100 Holding of trademarks

HK$2 Non-voting deferred 100 100

Anway Garment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Garment trading

August Silk Inc. USA US$10 100 100 Marketing and garment 

trading

Bramead International Inc. British Virgin Islands 

  (“BVI”)/USA

US$1 100 100 Holding of trademarks

Cantabian Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Ordinary 100 100 Investment holding

HK$2 Non-voting deferred 100 100

Da Fu Li Co., Limited Taiwan TWD300,000 100 100 Garment retailing

Dongguan Dalisheng Fashion 

  Co., Ltd. (Note 1)

PRC HK$28,000,000 100 100 Garment manufacturing

Dongguan Yihao Fashions 

  Limited (Note 1)

PRC HK$20,500,000 100 100 Garment manufacturing
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation 

or registration/

operations

Issued and fully 

paid share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of 

nominal value 

of issued capital/

registered capital 

held by the Company Principal activities

2013 2012

% %

Eminent Garment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Garment trading

Guangdong Theme-Huayu 

  Fashion Company Limited 

  (Note 1)

PRC RMB5,000,000 100 100 Garment retailing

Hangzhou Zhiyisuiyi Trade 

  Co., Ltd. (Note 2)

PRC RMB126,000,000 – 100 Garment trading

High Fashion Accessories and 

  Gifts Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Accessories and gifts 

  trading and manufacturing

High Fashion Apparel Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1,000 100 100 Investment holding

High Fashion (China) 

  Co., Ltd. (Note 1)

PRC US$106,865,779 100 100 Dyeing, printing and 

  sandwashing of fabrics and 

  garment manufacturing

High Fashion Commerce 

  Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Provision of procurement 

  and undertaking services

High Fashion Garments 

  Company Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 ordinary

HK$10,000,000 

  Non-voting deferred

100

100

100

100

Garment trading

High Fashion Garments, Inc. USA US$5,000 100 100 Marketing and garment 

trading

High Fashion Garments Macao 

  Commercial Offshore Limited

Macau MOP100,000 100 100 Garment trading and agency

48.	P ARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation 

or registration/

operations

Issued and fully 

paid share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of 

nominal value 

of issued capital/

registered capital 

held by the Company Principal activities

2013 2012

% %

HFGML Hong Kong HK$20 Ordinary 100 100 Provision of management 

  servicesHK$20 Non-voting deferred 100 100

High Fashion International 

  (USA) Inc.

USA US$1,800 100 100 Investment holding

High Fashion Investment Co., 

  Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Investment holding

High Fashion Knit Company 

  Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Garment trading

High Fashion Knitwear 

  Company Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 Ordinary 100 100 Garment trading

HK$1,000,000 

  Non-voting deferred

100 100

High Fashion Knitwear 

  Overseas Limited

Hong Kong HK$2 Ordinary 100 100 Garment trading

HK$10,000 

  Non-voting deferred

100

High Fashion Silk (Zhejiang) 

  Co., Ltd. (Note 1)

PRC US$52,500,000 100 100 Silk weaving

High Fashion (UK) Limited United Kingdom GBP20,000 70.5 70.5 Garment trading

Navigation Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Investment holding

Rosso Amaranto S.r.l Italy EUR100,000 80 80 Trading of fabrics

Stage II Limited Hong Kong HK$800,000 100 100 Garment trading

The King Garment Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Garment trading

Theme Corporate Fashion 

  (Asia) Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Garment trading

48.	P ARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 

incorporation 

or registration/

operations

Issued and fully 

paid share capital/

registered capital

Proportion of 

nominal value 

of issued capital/

registered capital 

held by the Company Principal activities

2013 2012

% %

Theme Corporate Fashion

   (China) Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding

Theme Corporate Fashion 

  (Overseas) Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Garment trading

Theme Garments (Shenzhen) 

  Company Limited (Note 1)

PRC RMB60,000,000 100 100 Garment retailing and 

trading

Theme Fashion (Singapore) 

  Pte. Ltd.

Singapore S$100,000 100 100 Garment retailing

Theme International Holdings 

  (B.V.I.) Limited

BVI US$10,001 100 100 Investment holding

Winsmart Overseas Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100 100 Garment trading

Zhejiang High Fashion Culture 

  Creativity Co., Ltd 

  (Notes 1 and 3)

PRC US$20,000,000 100 – Culture development

Notes:

(1)	 These companies are registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

(2)	 The company was deregistered during the year ended 31 December 2013.

(3)	 The company was set up during the year ended 31 December 2013.

48.	P ARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
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48.	P ARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
High Fashion Apparel Limited is a directly held wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Except for High 

Fashion Apparel Limited, all subsidiaries listed above are indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally 

affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the 

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A 

majority of these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong and BVI. The principal activities of these subsidiaries are 

summarised as follows:

Principal activities

Place of 

incorporation 

of registration/

operations Number of subsidiaries

2013 2012

Investment holding Hong Kong 7 7

BVI 2 2

9 9

Inactive Hong Kong 17 16

BVI 8 8

25 24

34 33

In the opinion of the directors, there is no subsidiary that has non-controlling interest that is individually 

material to the Group for both years and therefore no further information is disclosed for these non-wholly 

owned subsidiaries.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
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A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial periods, as 

extracted from the audited financial statements and reclassified and adjusted as appropriate, is set out below:

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Revenue 2,806,661 2,611,872 2,784,166 2,724,299 2,271,566

Profit before taxation 237,761 205,559 240,572 270,981 192,457

Taxation (44,937) (35,728) 13,253 (53,969) (35,007)

Profit for the year 192,824 169,831 253,825 217,012 157,450

Profit for the year attributable to

  Owners of the Company 194,483 170,116 253,825 217,012 165,507

  Non-controlling interests (1,659) (285) – – (8,057)

192,824 169,831 253,825 217,012 157,450

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At 31 December

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 6,121,493 4,996,341 4,514,633 4,129,765 3,367,662

Total liabilities (3,476,324) (2,703,692) (2,373,348) (2,276,188) (1,728,199)

2,645,169 2,292,649 2,141,285 1,853,577 1,639,463



Financial Summary

Annual Report 2013 · High Fashion International Limited128

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 

COMPANY

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 126,671 126,671

Amount due from a subsidiary 390,949 350,984

Other current assets 150 150

Bank balances 134 122

Total assets 517,904 477,927

Less: liabilities 103 98

Net assets 517,801 477,829

Capital and reserves

  Share capital 29,721 29,721

  Reserves 488,080 448,108

Total equity 517,801 477,829
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Foo Wah
  (Chairman and Managing Director)
Ms. So Siu Hang, Patricia

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael
Professor Yeung Kwok Wing

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Woo King Wai
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter
Mr. Leung Hok Lim

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Leung Hok Lim (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael 
Professor Yeung Kwok Wing
Mr. Woo King Wai
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael 
Professor Yeung Kwok Wing
Mr. Woo King Wai
Mr. Leung Hok Lim

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Lam Foo Wah (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Wah Tip, Michael 
Professor Yeung Kwok Wing
Mr. Woo King Wai
Mr. Wong Shiu Hoi, Peter
Mr. Leung Hok Lim

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Wai Wei, Cynthia

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

LEGAL ADVISER IN HONG KONG 
Wilkinson & Grist

LEGAL ADVISER ON BERMUDA LAW
Conyers Dill & Pearman

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL  PLACE 
  OF BUSINESS
11th Floor, High Fashion Centre
1-11 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung
New Territories, Hong Kong 

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRARS AND 
 T RANSFER OFFICE
Codan Services Limited
Clarendon House, Church Street
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE 
  REGISTRARS AND TRANSFER 
  OFFICE
Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong 
  (To be effective on 31 March 2014)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited, 
  Hong Kong Branch
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Citibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch
China CITIC Bank International Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
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Results Announcement:-
2013 Final

2013 Interim

2012 Final

2012 Interim

26 March 2014

29 August 2013

28 March 2013

31 August 2012

2014 Annual General Meeting 6 June 2014

Closure of Register of 

  Members

Events Book close period

(both days inclusive)

For attendance and vote to 

  2014 Annual General 

  Meeting 3 June 2014 to 6 June 2014

For entitlement to the 

  proposed final dividend 12 June 2014 to 13 June 2014

Dividends:-
2013 Final 15 HK cents per share in cash (with scrip option) payable on or 

  about 11 July 2014

2013 Interim 5 HK cents per share paid on 3 October 2013

2012 Final 15 HK cents per share paid on 20 June 2013

2012 Interim 5 HK cents per share paid on 28 September 2012

Authorised Shares 1,000,000,000 shares

Issued Shares 297,213,550 shares (as at 31 December 2013)

Board Lot 2,000 shares

Financial Year End December 31

Stock Code 608

Company Website www.highfashion.com.hk

Listing Date 4 August 1992


	Cover 
	Inside Front Cover
	Contents
	Chairman’s Statement
	Financial Highlights
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Report of the Directors
	Corporate Governance Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Corporate Information
	Shareholders & Investor Relation Information



